
There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact 
Philippa Turvey on 01733 452460 as soon as possible.

AB
PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 7 JULY 2015
1.30 PM

Bourges/Viersen Rooms - Town Hall

AGENDA
Page No

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest

At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council. 

3. Members' Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward 
Councillor

4. Minutes of the Meeting Held on 9 June 2015 5 - 12

5. Development Control and Enforcement Matters

5.1 15/00415/FUL - Peterborough City Lawn Tennis Club, Park 
Crescent, Peterborough, PE1 4DX

13 - 30

5.2 15/00521/FUL - Peakirk Cum Glinton Voluntary Aided Primary 
School, School Lane, Glinton, Peterborough

31 - 46

5.3 15/00621/FUL - Land to the Rear of 37 and 39 Lincoln Road, 
Glinton, Peterborough

47 - 60

5.4 15/00667/FUL - 17 Castor Road, Marholm, Peterborough, PE6 
7JA

61 - 82

5.5 14/02222/FUL - The Hostel Site, London Road, Yaxley, PE7 3NQ 83 - 98

Public Document Pack



Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.  The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take photographs and use 
social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the public. A protocol on this facility is 
available at: 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recordi
ng.pdf

Committee Members:

Councillors: C Harper (Chairman), L Serluca (Vice Chairman), P Hiller, N North, J Stokes, 
S Martin, Sylvester, D Harrington, J Okonkowski and S Lane

Substitutes: Councillors: G Casey, N Shabbir, C Ash and R Herdman and JR Fox

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Philippa Turvey on telephone 01733 
452460 or by email – philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/documents/s21850/Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording.pdf


CASE OFFICERS:

Planning and Development Team: Nicholas Harding, Lee Collins, Andrew Cundy, Paul Smith, 
Mike Roberts, Louise Lewis, Janet Maclennan, Astrid 
Hawley, David Jolley, Louise Lovegrove, Vicky Hurrell, 
Amanda McSherry, Sam Falco, Matt Thomson, Chris 
Edwards, Michael Freeman

Minerals and Waste: Theresa Nicholl, Alan Jones

Compliance: Nigel Barnes, Anthony Whittle, Karen Cole, Julie Robshaw

NOTES:

1. Any queries on completeness or accuracy of reports should be raised with the Case Officer 
or Head of Planning, Transport and Engineering Services as soon as possible.

2. The purpose of location plans is to assist Members in identifying the location of the site.  
Location plans may not be up-to-date, and may not always show the proposed development.  

3. These reports take into account the Council's equal opportunities policy but have no 
implications for that policy, except where expressly stated.

4. The background papers for planning applications are the application file plus any documents 
specifically referred to in the report itself.

5. These reports may be updated orally at the meeting if additional relevant information is 
received after their preparation.



This page is intentionally left blank



AB
    MINUTES OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH ON 9 JUNE 2015

Members Present: Councillors Harper (Chair), Serluca (Vice-Chair), Hiller, North, Stokes, 
Harrington, Okonkowski, Lane and Shabbir

Officers Present:  Lee Collins, Development Management Manager
Jim Daley, Principal Built Environment Officer
Simon Ireland, Principal Engineer (Highway Control)
Hannah Vincent, Planning and Highways Lawyer
Pippa Turvey, Senior Democratic Services Officer

1. Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Martin and Councillor Sylvester. 
Councillor Shabbir was in attendance as a substitute.

2. Declarations of Interest

No declarations for interest were received. 

3.    Members’ Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward Councillor

There were no declarations of intention to make representations as Ward Councillor.

4. Minutes of the Meetings held on:

4.1 7 April 2015

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 April 2015 were approved as a correct record, 
subject to the following amendments:

 ‘Ian Allin, Ward Councillor’ be altered to ‘Ian Allin, Parish Councillor’; 
 ‘Albert Road’ and ‘Albert Street’ be altered to ‘Oundle Road’; and
 ‘village plan’ be altered to ‘Maxey Conservation Area plan’.

4.2 21 April 2015

The minutes of the meeting held on 21 April 2015 were approved as a correct record.

5.    Development Control and Enforcement Matters

5.1 15/00479/HHFUL – 13 Allotment Lane, Castor, Peterborough, PE5 7AS

The planning application was for the demolition of an existing garage at 13 Allotment 
Lane, Castor, and the erection of a single storey front extension and two storey front 
extension. The application was a resubmission.

The main considerations set out in the reports were:
 Policy Context

5



 Impact on Heritage Assets and Character and Appearance of the Area
 Neighbour Amenity

It was officer’s recommendation that planning permission be refused for the reasons set 
out in the report.

The Development Management Manager provided an overview of the application and 
raised the following key points:

 There was a mixture of architecture in the surrounding area, and listed buildings 
further down the lane.

 The proposals would result in 7 metre by 3.8 metre extension at ground floor, 
wider than the current garage, with the first floor 2 metres shorter.

 There had been no objections from the public, and the proposals had received 
support from both the Parish Council and Ward Councillor.

 It was considered by officers that the modern buildings in the area were not the 
prominent feature and that the proposals would make a significant difference to 
the street scene. 

 It was believed that the proposed extension would dominate the area and 
change its character. 

 It was advised that previous issues with impact on residential amenity had now 
been addressed within the proposal.

 Within the update report additional comments had been received from Castor 
Parish Council, in support of the application. Photographs had been submitted 
by the applicant of other comparable developments in the locality.

Councillor Lamb, Ward Councillor, addressed the Committee and responded to 
questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

 The Councillor highlighted that the building opposite the application site had 
been development and had modified every aspect of the property. 

 The area was characterised by a mixture of housing styles and sizes. 
 No neighbour amenity would be effected, nor would there be any adverse impact 

on the conservation area. 
 The applicant needed more room for their family and did not wish to move.
 Councillor Lamb confirmed that the Parish Council was in support of the 

application. 

Jo Codd, Applicant, addressed the Committee in support of the application and 
responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

 The applicant did not want to detriment the character of the area. 
 The application property was already different in style to the other dwellings in 

the surrounding locality. As such it was not believed that granting this application 
would set a precedent.

 It was suggested that the proposals would improve the area, which was 
‘hotchpotch’ in character. 

 The street scene was obscured from the west by trees and bushes and from the 
east by a wall. 

 The applicant highlight the development at 10 Manor Farm Lane, which was 
believed to be of a similar nature to their proposal. It was suggested that there 
was no consistency in the approach to the two developments. 

The Committee thanked the applicant for her address. During discussion the Committee 
raised several points, including the prospect of the first floor development extending 
beyond the line of the trees. Significant weight was attached the Parish Council support 
of the application, however the Committee did note that this was not the only relevant 

6



factor. 

It was considered that, as the buildings in the area were all different in style, the 
proposal would not alter the character of the area. As the first floor did not extend as far 
as the ground floor proposal, it was thought that it would not obstruct any view of the 
landscape beyond.

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, contrary to 
officer recommendation, for the reason that, rather than being detrimental to the 
conservation area and residential amenity, the proposal would improve the area. The 
motion was carried seven voting in favour, two voting against.

RESOLVED: (seven voted in favour, two voted against) that planning permission is 
GRANTED subject to appropriate conditions.

Reasons for the decision

The proposals were not considered to be to the detriment of the conservation area, but 
were believed to improve the aesthetic of the surrounding area. There was not 
considered to be any loss of amenity for neighbouring properties.

5.2 15/00392/HHFUL – 29 Parliament Street, Millfield, Peterborough, PE1 2LS

The planning application was a retrospective application for a front single storey 
extension to 29 Parliament Street, Millfield and the erection of a front boundary wall.

The main considerations set out in the reports were:
 Design, Layout and Neighbour Amenity
 Access and Parking
 Conditions

It was officer’s recommendation that planning permission be granted unconditionally.

The Development Management Manager provided an overview of the application and 
raised the following key points:

 The application was retrospective for a front extension, similar to a number of 
other dwellings on Parliament Street.

 The application had been previously refused by officers as the materials used in 
the extension did not match the main house. However, this refusal had been 
reconsidered and it was now considered that this was not a significant enough 
reason to refuse.

The Committee commented that the proposal fit well with the street scene.

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per 
officer recommendation. The motion was carried unanimously.

RESOLVED: (unanimous) that planning permission is GRANTED unconditionally.

Reasons for the decision

The proposal was acceptable having been assessed in the light of all material 
considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and 
specifically:

7



 The front extension did not harm the character or appearance of the host 
building or street scene, and accorded with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2012) and Policies PP2 of the Peterborough Policies DPD 
(2012); and

 The front extension did not harm the amenity of adjoining neighbours, and 
accorded with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2012) and 
PP3 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012).

6. Planning Compliance Quarterly Report on Activity & Performance January to 
March 2015

The Committee received a report which outlined the Planning Service’s planning 
compliance performance and activity which identified if there were any lessons to be 
learned from the actions taken. The aim was for the Committee to be kept informed of 
future decisions and potential to reduce costs.

The Development Management Manager provided an overview of the report and raised 
the following points:

 138 complaints had been received, which was an increase of 29 from the last 
quarter.

 147 complaints had been resolved, which was 3 less than the national 
average.

 The department had a 100% complaint acknowledgment rate, which was 
above the 80% target. 

 98% of site inspections were carried out within 7 days, which was above the 
target.

 There were no prosecution cases to report, however there had been one 
appeal against an enforcement case dismissed. 

In response to a question from the Committee, the Planning and Highways Lawyer 
advised that the judge was not satisfied with the information presented in the RP Meats 
case. This was due to an issue surrounding the ownership of the land, which was 
unregistered.

RESOLVED:
 
The Committee noted past performance and outcomes.

7. The Etton Conservation Area Appraisal

The Committee received a report which provided an update on the outcome of the 
public consultation on the Draft Etton Conservation Area Appraisal and Management 
Plan.

It was officer’s recommendation that the Committee notes the outcome of the public 
consultation on the Etton Conservation Appraisal, recommends that the Cabinet 
Member for Growth, Planning, Housing & Economic Development considers and 
approves the proposed conservation area boundary change and that the Committee 
supports the adoption of the of the Etton Conservation Area Appraisal and Management 
Plan as the Council’s planning guidance and strategy for the Etton Conservation Area.

The Principal Built Environment Officer provided an overview of the report and raised 
the following points:

8



 All conservation areas were undergoing a review. The two before the 
Committee today were number 21 and 22 out of 29.

 The reviews were in order to keep the documents readable and to maintain a 
management plan.

 The appraisals outlined the character of an area, reviewed the boundaries of 
the conservation area and provided guidance.

 The Etton Conservation Area appraisal described the area’s special character 
as its rural landscape. 

 The public consultation had attracted a number of positive responses, with a 
few minor corrections. Comments were also made about the marquee at the 
Golden Pheasant.

 The management plan outlined for more sympathetic traffic calming 
measures to be used, underground utility wires, tree planting and for the 
identification of buildings making a positive contribution.

 It was explained that the boundary of the conservation area was to be 
extended to include the fields to the south west of the village.

The Committee discussed the temporary marquees placed outside the Golden 
Pheasant. It was noted that if the Council determined not to renew temporary 
permission for these, a more permanent structure would be sought, which would be 
more in line with the current building. The traffic calming measures referenced in the 
report were questioned and the Principal Built Environment Officer advised that the 
option of closing the link between Etton and Maxey may be a future consideration.

RESOLVED that the Committee:

1. Noted the outcome of the public consultation on the Etton Conservation Area 
Appraisal; 

2. Recommended that the Cabinet Member for Growth, Planning, Housing & 
Economic Development considers and approves the proposed  conservation area 
boundary change; and

3. Supports the adoption of the Etton Conservation Area Appraisal and Management 
Plan as the Council’s planning guidance and strategy for the Etton Conservation 
Area.

Reasons for the decision:

Adoption of the Etton Conservation Area Appraisal as the Council’s planning guidance 
and strategy for the Area would: 

 fulfil the Local Planning Authorities obligations under the Planning (Listed 
Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to prepare and publish proposals for 
the preservation and enhancement of Conservation Areas.  

 provide specific Conservation Area advice which would be used as local design 
guidance and therefore assist in achieving the Council’s aim of improved design 
standards and the delivery of a high quality planning service. 

 have a positive impact on the enhancement of the Conservation Area by ensuring 
that new development in the historic environment is both appropriate to its 
context and of demonstrable quality.

9



8. The Sutton Conservation Area Appraisal

The Committee received a report which provided an update on the outcome of the 
public consultation on the Draft Sutton Conservation Area Appraisal and Management 
Plan.

It was officer’s recommendation that the Committee notes the outcome of the public 
consultation on the Sutton Conservation Appraisal, recommends that the Cabinet 
Member for Growth, Planning, Housing & Economic Development considers and 
approves the proposed conservation area boundary change and that the Committee 
supports the adoption of the of the Sutton Conservation Area Appraisal and 
Management Plan as the Council’s planning guidance and strategy for the Sutton 
Conservation Area.

The Principal Built Environment Officer provided an overview of the report and raised 
the following points:

 The area was characterised by its Anglo-Saxon history and rural setting.
 It was stated that approximately 45% of the buildings had been developed 

following the 1900’s. 
 The area was defined by its tranquil, cul-de-sac nature, its stone boundary and 

buildings, and its verges without curbs. 
 The public consultation resulted in 6 representations, including the Parish 

Council. 
 It was recommended to make a small modification to the boundary, to bring in to 

the Conservation Area the full curtilage of Manor Farm. The owner of the farm 
had not made comment on the proposals.

 It was further proposed to identify positive unlisted buildings, to repair dry stone 
walls, to introduce sympathetic street furniture and to introduce a scheme of long 
term tree planting. 

The Committee thanked the officer for his comprehensive report and considered that the 
alteration of the Sutton Conservation Area boundary was a sensible approach.

RESOLVED that the Committee:

1. Noted the outcome of the public consultation on the Sutton Conservation Area 
Appraisal; 

2. Recommended that the Cabinet Member for Growth, Planning, Housing & 
Economic Development considers and approves the proposed  conservation area 
boundary change;

3. Supports the adoption of the Sutton Conservation Area Appraisal and 
Management Plan as the Council’s planning guidance and strategy for the Sutton 
Conservation Area.

Reasons for the decision:

Adoption of the Sutton Conservation Area Appraisal as the Council’s planning guidance 
and strategy for the Area would: 

 fulfil the Local Planning Authorities obligations under the Planning (Listed 
Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to prepare and publish proposals for 
the preservation and enhancement of Conservation Areas.  

10



 provide specific Conservation Area advice which would be used as local design 
guidance and therefore assist in achieving the Council’s aim of improved design 
standards and the delivery of a high quality planning service. 

 have a positive impact on the enhancement of the Conservation Area by ensuring 
that new development in the historic environment is both appropriate to its 
context and of demonstrable quality.

Chairman
1.30pm – 2.36pm

11



This page is intentionally left blank

12



13



This page is intentionally left blank

14



Planning and EP Committee 7 July 2015 Item number 1

Application Ref: 15/00415/FUL 

Proposal: Proposed demolition of timber pavilion and erection of two detached 
"Prestige" homes

Site: Peterbrorough City Lawn Tennis Club, Park Crescent, Peterborough, PE1 
4DX

Applicant: Seagate Homes
Agent: Mr John Dadge

Barker Storey Matthews
Site visit: 10.04.2015

Case officer: Miss A McSherry
Telephone No. 01733 454416
E-Mail: amanda.mcsherry@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings
The site is the last remnants of a tennis club that has been on site for about 100 years.  Part of the 
site was developed for housing in the 1970’s, leaving a wooden clubhouse and four grass tennis 
courts which are the subject of this application.  The courts are not currently in use, and have not 
been in use for a number of years.  The site is currently laid grass, with the wooden clubhouse still 
in position, and is screened from Park Crescent by an approximately 2m high hedge and 1m high 
diaper work wooden fence.       

The site falls within the Park Conservation Area and lies opposite Central Park.  The adjoining 
houses are modern (having been built around 1970), although the overall character of the area 
reflects its history as an Arcadian Victorian/Edwardian residential area.  The character of the 
surrounding area is generally one of large residential properties set within large plots, screened 
from the road with mature trees and hedges.  

Proposal
Planning permission is sought for the construction of two detached, two storey residential 
properties on the site.  Both of the properties proposed are to have 5 bedrooms, with a detached 
double garage proposed for each property.  Independent vehicle/pedestrian accesses are 
proposed on the site frontage for each property.  

A previous  planning permission for  3 dwellings  on the  site had a  planning condition on it stating 
that no house  could  be  occupied  until  replacement tennis  courts had  been provided  at 
Peterborough Town Sports  Club. This was  because  there are policies  that protect sports 
facilities from redevelopment. The  prospective  buyer  and developer of the site is  unable to  get 
the finance for the development because the condition effectively puts the developer / finance  
company in the hands of a  third  party. Therefore, alternative ways of delivering replacement 
courts  needs to be  looked at.    

1

15



2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
11/00225/FUL Construction of 2 x 4 bedroom and 1 x 3 

bedroom detached prestige dwellings
Permitted 18/11/2011

14/00095/WCPP Removal of condition C2 (Construction of 
tennis courts) of planning permission 
11/00225/FUL - Construction of 2 x 4 
bedroom and 1 x 3 bedroom detached 
prestige dwellings

Withdrawn 14/04/2014

09/01294/FUL Construction of 2 x two storey 4 bed 
detached dwellings and 1 x two storey 3 
bed detached dwelling

Refused 11/06/2010

08/00438/FUL Construction of 10 two bedroom apartments 
in three buildings

Refused 25/11/2008

06/01243/FUL Erection of 10 apartments in three blocks Refused 02/11/2006
06/00625/FUL Erection of 12 apartments in three blocks Withdrawn 25/07/2006
97/00695/FUL Erection of timber storage shed and 

demolition of existing shed
Permitted 13/08/1997

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions. 
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the Conservation Area or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 12 - Conservation of Heritage Assets 
Account should be taken of the desirability of sustaining/enhancing heritage assets; the positive 
contribution that they can make to sustainable communities including economic viability; and the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.  When considering the impact of a new development great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation.  

Planning permission should be refused for development which would lead to substantial harm to or 
total loss of significance unless this is necessary to achieve public benefits that outweigh the 
harm/loss.  In such cases all reasonable steps should be taken to ensure the new development will 
proceed after the harm/ loss has occurred.

Paragraph 74 – Sports land

Sports facilities should not be lost unless equivalent or better replacement provision in a suitable 
location is secured.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS10 - Environment Capital 

2

16



Development should make a clear contribution towards the Council’s aspiration to become 
Environment Capital of the UK.

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

CS17 - The Historic Environment 
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including non-
scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP01 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Applications which accord with policies in the Local Plan and other Development Plan Documents 
will be approved unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where there are no relevant 
policies, the Council will grant permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP04 - Amenity Provision in New Residential Development 
Proposals for new residential development should be designed and located to ensure that they 
provide for the needs of the future residents.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

PP17 - Heritage Assets 
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the 
significance of the asset or its setting.  Development which would have detrimental impact will be 
refused unless there are overriding public benefits.

PP16 - The Landscaping and Biodiversity Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes provision for the retention of trees 
and natural features which contribute significantly to the local landscape or biodiversity.

3

17



4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Transport & Engineering Services – No objections – Vehicle to pedestrian splays are 
required for new accesses as per plan 3717-PO1 Rev A.  Access widths of 3.5m wide are required 
where there is no separate pedestrian access.  The turning facilities proposed are acceptable.  

PCC Conservation Officer – No objections – This proposal is considered to be an improvement to 
the previously approved scheme 11/00225/FUL, and sympathetic to this part of the conservation 
area, by being single detached dwellings in large landscaped plots.  The design of the buildings 
has a clear architectural philosophy that is reflective of the Victorian character of this part of the 
conservation area. The proposed form, materials and details are appropriate.  There is now a 
greater change in detail between each property to the Crescent to provide a pleasant 
differentiation.  Narrower entrances off Park Crescent should be sought, rather than the 8m per 
property, which includes the access and visibility splays.  Generally 3.2m wide accesses are 
characteristic of those in the surrounding Crescent, with a strong landscaped/hedge front boundary 
treatment.  The proposal is considered to further the objectives of the Park Conservation Area 
Appraisal and enhance the character and appearance of this part of the Park Conservation Area. 

Sport England – No objections – The site is not a playing field as defined by the Town and 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010 (Statutory 
Instrument 2010 No.2184), therefore Sport England have considered this a non-statutory 
consultation.  We remain of the view that a condition requiring the provision of the replacement 
courts at Peterborough Town Sports Club should still be imposed on any grant of planning 
permission.  We would re-consider a slightly less onerous wording for such a condition if this was 
considered necessary to ensure the scheme is successfully delivered.  FURTHER COMMENTS 
ARE AWAITED 

Archaeological Officer
No objections – The available evidence indicates the site has low archaeological potential, 
therefore there is no need to secure a programme of archaeological works. 
 
PCC Tree Officer 
No objections – The trees on neighbouring sites that overhang the site are protected by their 
location in the Park Conservation Area.  Any pruning works to trees on adjacent land will require 
the submission of a 211 notification.  

Councillor J Peach 
No comments received

Councillor Richard Ferris 
No comments received

Broadway Residents Association 
Objection – It is regrettable that the applicant did not discuss their proposals with us before, as this 
may have prevented our objection.  The proposal for 2 houses, and their design and layout is 
better than previous proposals and are generally acceptable to us.  It is hoped that our objections 
could be dealt with by conditions.  In respect of the impact of the proposal on the Conservation 
Area we are concerned about the loss of a large amount of boundary hedging on the site frontage.  
We would suggest a landscaping condition to deal with this.  There is concern about what would be 
proposed as a boundary treatment, on removal of the pavilion building, however this could be dealt 
with by way of a condition.  The loss of sports facilities on this site is regrettable. A condition and/or 
legal agreement is required to ensure that the proposal complies with the NPPF and associated 
planning policy in respect of securing the provision of suitable alternative replacement sports 
facilities.  This needs to be as equally binding as condition 2 of planning permission 11/00225/FUL.  
There are number of errors/inconsistencies in the submission details.  We are concerned about the 
loss of hedging proposed by the 2 wide accesses and visibility splays and the damaging effect this 
would have on the appearance of the streetscene and existing hedge.  Suggest that the accesses 

4

18



are narrowed down to allow the retention of more of the front boundary hedge.  There is an error in 
the Design and access statement, which refers to 2 x 4 bed properties, when in fact they are 5 
bedrooms.  We would wish a condition to be imposed to restrict the properties to dwellings, and 
prevent the future conversion to flats.  The developer should be made aware of the objections 
made over the last 10 years on this site to previous inappropriate development.  If our concerns 
can be addressed by conditions then we would withdraw our objection. A meeting may be 
beneficial.  

Victoria Park Residents Association 
No comments to make.  

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 75
Total number of responses: 5
Total number of objections: 4
Total number in support: 1

5 letters of representation have been received from local residents, including 1 letter of support, the 
following issues were raised:-

 This application is far better than previous applications on the site and addresses nearly all 
objection to the last application 11/00225/FUL.

 The S106 agreement of the last application 11/00225/FUL, needs to also to be secured for 
this application.

 The removal of the pavilion building, may reveal a poor quality boundary wall.  The 
applicant should be responsible for any required repairs/upgrade to the boundary treatment 
in this location to provide the necessary security and privacy.

 Overlooking of neighbours gardens will result from the south side first floor bedroom 
window of plot 2, this window should be obscure/opaque, and this should be secured by 
condition.

 This proposal for 2 family houses, should have been proposed 10 years ago, to have 
prevented years of local objection, and the houses would have been built years ago at a 
time when the market was more beneficial. 

 Replacement tennis facilities need to be secured by a legal agreement
 The front boundary hedge and fence should be protected, as they are characteristic of the 

surrounding Crescent and Conservation Area.
 These properties should be retained as family homes and not converted to flats of multiple 

occupancy, this should be conditioned.  The Planning Committee has already refused 
proposals for flats on this site.  

 As many trees should be protected and retained as possible, to enhance the landscape.  
 

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main issues are:-

a) Planning History

Planning permission was approved by the Planning and Environmental Protection Committee 
under planning reference 11/00225/FUL for 3 houses on the site, two on the site frontage and a 
Coach House at the rear.  This planning permission secured replacement tennis facilities, by way 
of a planning condition, which stated:-

No development shall commence until such time as the construction of the tennis courts 
approved under 11/00230/FUL has commenced and no dwelling shall be occupied until 
such time as the said courts are completed in accordance with the associated planning 

5

19



permission and operational.

Reason: To ensure that the alternative tennis court provision is provided in accordance with 
Policy LT3 of the Adopted Peterborough Local Plan (First Replacement).    

This planning permission has commenced on site by the digging of foundation trenches, therefore 
this planning permission is extant.  The replacement tennis courts planning permission 
11/0230/FUL has similarly commenced, by the digging of foundation trenches, and so is also 
extant.  

Prior to this, under planning reference 09/01294/FUL Members refused a proposal for 3 houses on 
the site, on the grounds that there was insufficient assurance that the alternative provision of tennis 
facilities could actually be provided in a suitably timely way to a standard that adequately reflects 
the quality and location of the resource that is proposed to be lost to development.  The appeal for 
this refused application was withdrawn.  

Prior to this consent there were two previous applications on this site for ten apartments contained 
within three blocks that were both refused by Members and dismissed on appeal.  The last of these 
appeals was dismissed because  although the applicant was willing to enter into an agreement  to 
provide replacement courts somewhere in Peterborough and allow the City Council to access the  
funds raised from the sale of the site to provide  the replacement courts in the event the Tennis 
Club failed to deliver  the courts in a reasonable timescale, the Inspector saw  that there was a lack 
of  certainty about the provision of  the  new courts (see appendix 1 para  6-10).  The problems 
identified were; that there was no specific site for the new courts and so suitability of the site and 
the cost of the new courts could not be established, and the Council was not a party to the 
proposed agreement and so there was no fall back in the event that the tennis club failed to deliver 
the new courts.    

b) Replacement Tennis Facilities

Planning permission was granted by the Planning Committee under Planning Reference 
11/00230/FUL for two hard surfaced, covered, floodlit tennis courts at Peterborough Town and 
Sports Club, in Bretton.    

Both Sport England and the Lawn Tennis Association (LTA) considered that the tennis facilities 
proposed under planning permission 11/00230/FUL would constitute adequate replacement 
facilities for those lost at this application site, in Park Crescent.  This was because whilst 4 former 
grass tennis courts were lost at Park Crescent, their potential hours of play were limited to dry 
weather and daylight hours.  Whereas the 2 proposed covered and flood light courts at Bretton, 
would have the extended hours of play between 8am and 10pm Monday to Sunday.  In addition 
the Bretton site has the potential of linked sporting trips, as a range of different facilities are 
provided on that site, so families or groups could arrive together and participate in different sports.  
The Bretton site also has larger changing and clubhouse facilities and has on site car parking.  

This permission has commenced, by the digging of trenches on site.  Therefore hypothetically 
should anyone wish to build the 3 houses approved by planning permission 11/00225/FUL, they 
could built them, but in accordance with condition 2, they could not occupy them until the 
replacement tennis facilities were completed and operational.  

Seagate Homes wishes to buy the site from the Tennis Club and build 2 rather than 3 houses, 
hence this planning application.  Their financiers will not lend them the money on the basis of the 
existing condition 2 of planning permission 11/00225/FUL or similar due to the risk involved in 
being reliant on a third party delivering the replacement tennis facilities in a timely manner and 
before they can sell and allow occupation of their 2 houses.  The Tennis Club are reliant on the 
sale of the land to finance the replacement tennis facilities.

6

20



Due to the Banks not being willing to fund the construction of the houses on this tied basis, due to 
the planning condition we are therefore in a position in which the existing site remains unused, 
unable to be redeveloped and no new courts are provided. Whilst it has  been rejected previously, 
including at appeal it is  time to reconsider the appropriateness of planning permission being 
granted provided that there is a legal agreement in place (instead of a  planning condition) to  
secure the delivery of the replacement courts within a reasonable timescale and to include the 
provision for the Council being able to access  the  money from the sale  of the  lawn tennis club 
site so that it can facilitate  the provision of replacement courts should  the Tennis Club fail to 
deliver.

The Tennis Club are currently looking into the acquisition of a framed fabric building to cover the 
proposed tennis courts from an existing club who are selling their facility, however if this proves not 
to be possible are proposing to implement the 11/00230/FUL planning permission as approved.   

On this basis Officers are of the view that the proposed replacement tennis facilities, approved 
under planning reference 11/00230/FUL, could be adequately secured and are in accordance with 
the NPPF in that they would be equivalent or better replacement provision in a suitable location to 
those lost.   

c) Siting, scale and design

The two dwellings proposed under this application on the site frontage are similar in terms of their 
siting, scale and design to those approved under planning reference 11/00225/FUL.  

The two large properties proposed sit very comfortably on their large plots and are characteristic of 
many of the plots in the surrounding Crescent. The properties are set back from the road frontage, 
with generous front gardens and sit comfortably with adjacent building lines.  

The proposed villas incorporate a positive architectural consistency incorporating a mixture of 
architectural materials and devices drawn from different buildings such as the use of small 
fishscale hanging tiles to the forward gable of plot 1, pierced and shaped bargeboards and part 
render. A further differentiation between the two buildings proposed can be achieved by a 
decorative fishscale pattern in the hanging tiles to the forward gables to plot 1, this can be secured 
by condition.  

The proposed development is therefore considered to be in accordance with Policies CS16 of the 
Core Strategy and Policy PP02 of the Planning Policies DPD.  

d) Impact on residential amenity

It is considered that the siting, scale and design of the 2 properties would not result in an 
unacceptable impact on the residential amenity of any surrounding neighbouring sites.  It is 
considered that there would be sufficient separation distance between the new houses and those 
existing so that no unacceptable overbearing impact would result.  The siting of the properties 
would also not result in any unacceptable overshadowing impacts.

Concern has been raised in respect of the reduced privacy, from the first floor side bedroom 3 
window of Plot 2 and the overlooking that would result for neighbouring sites.  This window is a 
secondary window to this proposed room, therefore it is proposed to be obscurely glazed; this will 
be secured by planning condition, to protect the privacy of neighbours.     

Therefore it is considered that the proposed properties would not result in any unacceptable impact 
on the residential amenity of neighbours.  This is in accordance with Policies CS16 of the Core 
Strategy and Policy PP3 of the Planning Policies DPD.  

e) Impact on the character and appearance of the Conservation Area

7

21



The original form of development intended for Park Crescent was of large detached, ornate, single 
dwellings, set in their own landscaped grounds.  Today, the character of this part of the 
conservation area is largely shaped by the "wall" of landscape forming the outer edge of Central 
Park and the mature hedges and forest trees that form a visually cohesive outer enclosure.  

The proposed dwellings follow the general building line established by the existing built form.  They 
would capture the scale and grandeur of those to the west side of Park Crescent themselves 
reflective of the original building aspired to by the Peterborough Land Company (PLC). The 
development is expected to strengthen the Arcadian character at the eastern end of Park 
Crescent. 

The overwhelming boundary character influence on Park Crescent is hedge, typically privet.  They 
substantially contribute to the character and appearance and form a near continuous feature in the 
area and the same should form the frontage boundary to the site. 

The single access is to be replaced by 2 x 3.2m wide drives.  However, with the addition of 2m 
pedestrian to vehicle visibility splays on each side of the accesses it would make each entrance 
about 8m wide.  These wide vehicle entrances are not characteristic of the area, and would be 
harmful to the Conservation streetscene character, which is a wall of hedge and tree landscaping.  

It is considered that to preserve the character and appearance of the conservation area the 
entrances to each property should be no greater than 3.2m wide in total, to allow the 2m high 
hedge to remain on either side of these entrances, in line with the other entrances in the Crescent, 
thereby deleting the proposed 2m visibility splays on either sides of the accesses. 

It is recommended that a landscape scheme of various species is designed to create a continuous 
wall of foliage, winter and summer to the Park Crescent frontage giving glimpses of the buildings, 
such as such as Holm oak (Quercus ilex), in combination with beech (Fagus sylvatica) and privet, 
and combined with smaller trees (such as holly and hawthorn) to give a varied structure.  This 
would reinforce the general character of the area with planting to the frontage and rear of buildings 
and produce the sense of enclosure sought, winter and summer. 

From a heritage consideration the proposed development can be supported, subject to conditions 
in respect of landscaping and materials.  It is considered that the work will preserve the character 
and appearance of this part of the Park Conservation Area in accordance with Section 72(1), of the 
Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended) 
and is in accordance with Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011), Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012) and the National Planning Policy Framework (Heritage considerations).  

f) Highways

The Local Highway Authority require each new shared vehicle and pedestrian accesses to be  
3.5m wide, with 2m x 2m pedestrian visibility splays on either side, where there can be no 
boundary treatment including hedges above a height of 600mm.  Therefore 2 x 7.5m wide sections 
of the existing frontage boundary hedge would have to be removed or lowered in height to 600mm 
to accommodate these new accesses.  The previous planning approval proposed a single central 
access on the site frontage to serve all three properties to minimise the loss of the existing 
landscaped frontage.    

It is considered that the loss of a substantial part of the front boundary hedge would be visually 
detrimental to the existing landscaped site frontage, and the character and appearance of the 
surrounding Conservation Area.  Therefore whilst the provision of pedestrian visibility splays are 
usually considered to be essential for all new accesses, in this instance it is considered the harm to 
the Conservation Area would outweigh the harm caused to pedestrian safety from vehicles 
entering or leaving these two single dwelling accesses.  

8

22



The parking and turning facilities proposed on site for each dwelling is acceptable and in 
accordance with Policy PP13 of the Planning Policies DPD.  

g) Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

Peterborough City Council adopted its CIL Charging Schedule and CIL Supporting Policies 
Document on 15th April 2015.  The Council also adopted a Developer Contributions Supplementary 
Planning Document, on 7th April 2015.  

The purpose of CIL is to raise funds from developers who are undertaking new building projects, to 
help pay for infrastructure that is needed to support new development.  For this application the CIL 
payable for this development replaces the previously proposed Planning Obligations 
Implementation Strategy (POIS) contributions sought by S106 legal agreement.  

The CIL payment is calculated on the basis of a tariff style system, based on the amount of 
floorspace to be created.  

The developer is invoiced for the CIL contributions payable, if planning permission is issued.  

6 Conclusions

The existing planning permission cannot be built out because the planning condition stating that no 
house can be occupied  until the  replacement courts are provided is  preventing the scheme from 
obtaining finance. 

Whilst it has previously been rejected by planning committee and at appeal because of the issue  
of uncertainty about the  delivery of replacement courts, using a legal agreement rather than a  
planning condition must be  looked at again as it is the only solution that is likely unlock the 
situation. Whilst not ideal given the potential risks, it appears that it is  the  only viable solution and 
therefore officers  are  recommending approval of the application subject to the owner/applicant 
entering into a legal agreement for provision of the replacement tennis facilities.  

With regard to the other aspects of the development, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically:

 The redevelopment of the site with the 2 houses proposed, is considered to be acceptable 
on this site.

 It is considered that the work will preserve the character and appearance of this part of the 
Park Conservation Area.  

 It is considered that there would no unacceptable impact on the residential amenity of 
neighbours.

 It is considered adequate replacement tennis facilities could be secured by Private legal 
Agreement.

 The proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with the NPPF, and Policies 
CS16, CS10, and CS17 of the Core Strategy, and Policies PP02, PP03, PP04, PP12, 
PP13, PP17 and PP16 of the Planning Policies DPD.   

7 Recommendation

Subject to there being a legal agreement in place which:
 Requires the Lawn Tennis Club to put the money from the sale of the site (less any 

commitments) in ESCROW and use the money to provide the replacement courts in a  
reasonable timescale

 Allows the City Council to access the ESCROW and use the money on the provision of 
replacement courts in the event that the Tennis Club fails to do so

9

23



The Director of Growth & Regeneration be authorised to GRANT planning permission subject to 
the following conditions:

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

 

C 2 No above ground development of either plot shall take place until details of the proposed 
flush fitting casement windows, and also for plot 1 details of the architectural pattern to the 
hanging tiles, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The details submitted for approval shall include the name of the manufacturer, 
the product type, colour (using BS4800) and reference number. The development shall not 
be carried out except in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 3 Prior to the first occupation of the dwellings the area shown for the purposes of 
parking/turning on drawing number 3717-P01 Rev A shall be provided. Such provision shall 
thereafter be retained for this purpose and not put to any other use.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy PP12 adopted 
Planning Policies DPD.

 

C 4 Notwithstanding the details of plan 317-P01 Rev A, each vehicle access shall be a 
maximum of 3.5m in width, however the 2m x 2m visibility splays shown on either side of 
the accesses are not hereby approved.

Reason:  In order to preserve the special architectural and historic character of the Park 
Conservation Area in accordance with the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended), Policy CS17 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP17 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

C 5 Before the development hereby permitted is first occupied, the proposed Plot 2 and Plot 1, 
first floor southern elevation windows, 2 x en-suite and 1 x bedroom 3 and first floor 
northern elevation bathroom window, shall be obscure glazed, and non-opening unless the 
parts of the window which can be opened are more than 1.7 metres above the floor of the 
room in which the window is installed and shall subsequently be retained as such.

Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenities of the adjoining occupiers, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 6 Prior to first occupation details of all boundary treatments shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  These shall be erected in accordance 
with the approved details prior to occupation and maintained in perpetuity.  

10

24



Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenities of the adjoining occupiers, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 7 No development shall take place above slab level until a scheme for the hard and soft 
landscaping of the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The scheme shall include details of the following:-

- Proposed finished ground and building slab levels
- Planting plans including retained trees, species, numbers, size and density of 

planting
- An implementation programme (phased developments only)
- Details of any boundary treatment

The approved hard landscaping scheme shall be carried out with regard to the dwelling to 
which it relates, prior to the occupation of that dwelling and the soft landscaping shall be 
carried out within the first available planting season following completion of the 
development or first occupation (whichever is the sooner) or alternatively in accordance 
with a timetable for landscape implementation which has been approved as part of the 
submitted landscape scheme.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and then enhancement of biodiversity in 
accordance with policy CS21 of the adopted Core Strategy and policy PP16 of the adopted 
Planning Policies DPD.

 

C 8 Any trees, shrubs or hedges forming part of the approved landscaping scheme (except 
those contained in enclosed rear gardens to individual dwellings) that die, are removed or 
become diseased within five years of the implementation of the landscaping scheme shall 
be replaced during the next available planting season by the developers, or their 
successors in title with an equivalent size, number and species to those being replaced.  
Any replacement trees, shrubs or hedgerows dying within five years of planting shall 
themselves be replaced with an equivalent size, number and species.

Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the development and the enhancement 
of biodiversity in accordance with Policy CS21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011) and Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

C9 The development hereby approved shall be constructed so that it achieves at least a 10% 
improvement on the Target Emission Rates set by the Building Regulations at the time of 
Building Regulations being approved for the development.

Reason: To accord with Policy CS10 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011).

Copy to Councillors Ferris R, Shearman J and Peach J

11

25



This page is intentionally left blank

26



  

 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
 

Site visit made on 17 March 2009 

 
by Julia Gregory  BSc (Hons) BTP MRTPI 
MCMI 

 
 
The Planning Inspectorate 
4/11 Eagle Wing 
Temple Quay House 
2 The Square 
Temple Quay 
Bristol BS1 6PN 
 

 0117 372 6372 
email:enquiries@pins.gsi.g
ov.uk 

 an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 
for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 
21 April 2009 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/J0540/A/08/2091863 
Peterborough City Lawn Tennis Club Site, Park Crescent, Peterborough 
PE1 4DX 
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 
• The appeal is made by Peterborough City Lawn Tennis Club against the decision of 

Peterborough City Council. 
• The application Ref 08/00438/FUL, dated 26 March 2008, was refused by notice dated 

25 November 2008. 
• The development proposed is residential development (10 Apartments in 3 Buildings). 
 

Procedural matters 

1. The proposal has not been accompanied by an application for conservation area 
consent for demolition of the pavilion and this matter is not before me for 
consideration.   

Decision 

2. I dismiss the appeal. 

Main issues 

3. The main issues are the impact of the loss of the tennis courts on sports 
provision in Peterborough, and whether there should be contributions for the 
provision of additional infrastructure. 

Reasons 

4. An appeal was dismissed in relation to a similar scheme reference 
APP/J0540/A/06/2033107 in 2007.  Nevertheless, the Inspector concluded in 
relation to that appeal that the proposal would preserve the character and 
appearance of the Park Conservation Area and would comply with the 
provisions of the Peterborough Local Plan (First Replacement) 2005 (LP) in that 
respect.  I acknowledge that The Park Conservation Area Appraisal Report and 
Management Plan has been adopted, but the Council has not indicated that this 
should change that conclusion. 

5. The Inspector also concluded that the proposal would not have an adverse 
impact on the living conditions of neighbouring and prospective residents and 
complied with the provisions of the LP in that regard.  There have been no 
significant material changes since that time and whilst I have paid careful 
attention to the concerns made in representations about these issues, I agree 
with the conclusions of the previous Inspector on these matters. 

5.1 - APPENDIX 1

27



Appeal Decision APP/J0540/A/08/2091863 
 

 

 

2 

Loss of tennis courts 

6. The site has been previously used as lawn tennis courts.  The development 
would lead to the loss of those courts.  It has been stated in representations 
that these courts are below the standard required for match play and 
competitions.  PPG17: Planning for Open Space and Recreation and LP policy 
LT3 are permissive of the redevelopment of sports facilities provided that 
alternative provision is made elsewhere which is at least as accessible to 
existing and new users and at least equivalent in terms of size, usefulness, 
attractiveness and quality.   

7. A signed unilateral undertaking has been submitted which makes a contribution 
of £100,000 for the provision elsewhere of two new hard surface tennis courts 
with lighting, which would allow play on a greater number of occasions.  
Nevertheless, a site has not been provided.  Therefore although the money 
would be set aside, there is no certainty that a site could be provided.  There is 
no definite time scale, location or details of tenure.  No planning permission 
has been granted for alternative courts.  As there is no specific alternative site 
identified at this stage, it is not possible to assess the suitability of any 
relocation site. 

8. Whilst the money to be allocated is a substantial sum, and I note how the 
figure was arrived at, since no site has been specified, I cannot be sure that 
this amount of money would be sufficient or excessive to provide an adequate 
alternative provision.  No provision has been included for any changing facilities 
for the courts.  The unilateral undertaking would allow the possibility of the 
Park Crescent site being developed before adequate replacement provision is 
secured and completed and indeed the club could cease to exist having 
disposed of the site.  

9. Given that the unilateral undertaking is not an agreement with the Council, I 
am also not satisfied that the Council has formally agreed to provide courts in 
the event of the failure of the Appellant to find a site on which to construct new 
courts.  I understand that the Appellant has had difficulty in negotiating with 
the Council, but the unilateral undertaking fails to satisfy me that tennis courts 
would be provided within a reasonable period of time that would satisfy the 
tests of the policy.   

10. I note also the concerns of the Council about the precise wording of the 
unilateral undertaking, and whilst I have details of trustees, these matters add 
to my concerns.  I conclude that the proposal would lead to the loss of tennis 
courts which would conflict with LP policy LT3 and PPG17. 

Infrastructure 

11. Neither the reason for refusal nor the Council’s statement of case clearly set 
out details of what specific infrastructure contributions are justified by the 
development.  The Appellant has submitted a signed unilateral undertaking, 
which would provide a contribution of £40,800 to the Council on a phased basis 
linked to the occupation of various stages of the development.  I note 
references to financial contributions to meet policing, bereavement, health, 
waste disposal, open space, transport and education needs in the area which 
were made in the Council’s report to committee dated 18 November 2008.  

5.1 - APPENDIX 1

28



Appeal Decision APP/J0540/A/08/2091863 
 

 

 

3 

Nevertheless, the unilateral undertaking does not refer to the use to which the 
money would be put.   

12. Whilst I acknowledge also certain other representations about contributions, I 
have not received sufficient information to satisfy me that the contribution is 
necessary to enable the development to proceed.  I have also not been 
provided with a copy of LP policy IMP1.   

13. I note that the Inspector in respect of the previous appeal had inadequate 
information before him to conclude that contributions for the provision of 
additional infrastructure were necessary.  I recognise that the unilateral 
undertaking is a binding document, but I have attributed it little weight in 
reaching my decision, and have concluded in the absence of convincing 
evidence to the contrary that it is unnecessary.  Nevertheless, this does not 
outweigh my concerns in respect of the first main issue. 

Julia Gregory 
INSPECTOR 

5.1 - APPENDIX 1

29



This page is intentionally left blank

30



31



This page is intentionally left blank

32



Planning and EP Committee 7 July 2015 Item number 2

Application Ref: 15/00521/FUL 

Proposal: Construction of a new stand alone nursery facility

Site: Peakirk Cum Glinton Voluntary Aided Primary School, School Lane, 
Glinton, Peterborough

Applicant: Diocese Of Peterborough

Agent: Mr Tim Grice
Peter Smith Associates

Referred by: Parish Council
Reason: Impact of the development on the character of the Glinton Conservation 

Area
Site visit: 11.05.2015

Case officer: Mrs A Walker
Telephone No. 01733 454418
E-Mail: astrid.walker@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions    

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site Description
The application site comprises the original and main two storey school building and associated 
front play areas, rear playing fields and staff car park (14 spaces). The building has been altered 
and extended as the school has developed and there are a variety of different building designs and 
heights on the site including the tall boiler room adjacent to the application site and the current 
nursery facility, which is located within a temporary mobile unit, adjacent to the eastern site 
boundary. There are a number of mature trees located along the western site boundary. Vehicular 
access is off Rectory Lane. 

The application site falls within the Glinton Conservation Area. To the north of the site is St 
Benedicts Church, a grade I listed building, and to the east numbers 8, 10 and 12 Rectory Lane 
and the Bluebell public house, which are Grade II Listed. The surrounding character is 
predominantly residential in nature and comprises a mix of attractive stone built houses 
interspersed with some more modern in fill properties. 

Proposal
There is an existing facility which operates from a mobile unit on the site.  It is proposed to replace 
it with improved facilities.  Permission is sought for the construction of a two storey nursery facility 
to be located to the west side of the site and to the rear of the main school building but linked to an 
existing classroom by a canopy. It is proposed that the building has a footprint of approximately 
9.98 m x 11.58 m creating approximately 218 square metres floor space over two floors. The first 
floor space has been designed with a voided area which can be used to expand the building by 
approximately 20-30 square metres in the future if required. The building will be approximately 6 m 
high. Proposed materials are a mix of horizontal and vertical timber cladding and render.

The facility will have a maximum capacity of 45 children and will be run with 4 members of staff. 
The facility will offer pre-school (breakfast club) and post school activities for 4-11 year olds as well 
as running pre-school sessions for 2-4 year olds. It is also envisaged that the building may be used 
outside of these times by other community groups, as is the case with the current facility.

The existing facility operating from the mobile on site will continue to operate until the new facility 

1

33



has been constructed and opened at which time the mobile will be removed and the land re-
instated as hard surfaced playground. (It should be noted that the mobile unit was granted two 
years temporary planning permission under planning application reference 13/00883WCPP. This 
lapses on 14 August 2015).

No additional car parking is proposed. No changes are proposed to the existing cycle parking.

Background/rationale for site selection
The school has selected the site put forward as part of this planning application as they consider it 
the best option in light of the site constraints, available funding and the new nursery/pre-school 
requirements. It should be noted that not all of these constraints are material planning issues and 
weight cannot therefore be given to them in the evaluation of this planning application. However, 
these constraints are listed below in order to provide the background to the process the school has 
gone through in selecting the site put forward.

 The current temporary mobile unit has reached the end of its useful lifespan and a more 
permanent solution is required.

 The application site is within the Glinton Conservation Area. Any development at the front of 
the school building would have a greater impact on the Conservation Area. There would also 
be an issue in terms of the loss of playground, no connection to services, safeguarding issues 
to the main access to the school and the need to erect security fencing. 

 The school building is located on land own by the Diocese of Peterborough. Funding for the 
development will only be given if the development is also located on land owned by the 
Diocese.

 The grassed school playing field to the rear of the school is owned by Peterborough City 
Council. Any development on this part of the site would not be eligible for funding from the 
Diocese, would be liable to meet objection from Sport England at the loss of playing field land 
and would require a separate legal agreement with the Council.

 Locating the new nursery on the site of the existing mobile would mean that the facility would 
have to be closed during the construction phase. This would disrupt the service to children and 
parents. A temporary building or moving the existing mobile for use during construction would 
be too expensive.

 Locating the new nursery building on the existing site would be harder to manage from a 
health and safety perspective during the construction phase.

 The proposed position of the nursery is such that it would be next to the reception class 
enabling a better flow for the children between the buildings this would not be so well achieved 
elsewhere on the site.

 The position of the building does not compromise views from the existing school building onto 
the playing fields which is important from a security perspective.

 As a stand alone facility the development will be exempt from VAT.
 The budget for the project is modest and heavily reliant on funding from the Diocese.
 Construction Access. The proposed site means construction vehicles can gain access via a 

temporary access off Lincoln Road and do not have to go through the village causing less 
disruption and health and safety issues.

2

34



2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
99/01237/R3FUL Siting of mobile units for use as classrooms 

during repairs to fire damage
Permitted 16/12/1999

99/01531/FUL Replacement of fire damaged roof with new 
first floor level within roof line and dormer 
windows

Permitted 25/02/2000

11/00907/FUL Installation of additional mobile unit to 
existing Out of School Club to facilitate and 
incorporate Peakirk cum Glinton Pre School

Permitted 09/08/2011

13/00883/WCPP Variation of C1 of 11/00907/FUL Installation 
of additional mobile unit to existing Out of 
School Club to facilitate and incorporate 
Peakirk cum Glinton Pre School to extend 
permission time by a further 2 years

Permitted 14/08/2013

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions. 
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the Conservation Area or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 4 - Assessment of Transport Implications 
Development which generates a significant amount of traffic should be supported by a Transport 
Statement/Transport Assessment.  It should be located to minimise the need to travel/to maximise 
the opportunities for sustainable travel and be supported by a Travel Plan. Large scale 
developments should include a mix of uses. A safe and suitable access should be provided and 
the transport network improved to mitigate the impact of the development.

Section 6 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Housing applications should be considered in this context. Policies for the supply of housing should 
not be considered up-to-date if a 5 year supply of sites cannot be demonstrated.

Section 7 - Good Design 
Development should add to the overall quality of the area; establish a strong sense of place; 
optimise the site potential; create and sustain an appropriate mix of uses; support local facilities 
and transport networks; respond to local character and history while not discouraging appropriate 
innovation; create safe and accessible environments which are visually attractive as a result of 
good architecture and appropriate landscaping. Planning permission should be refused for 
development of poor design.

Section 8 - School Development 
Great weight should be given to the need to create, expand or alter schools.

3

35



Section 8 - Open Space 
Existing open space, sports and recreational buildings/land (including playing fields) should not be 
built on unless an assessment has been undertaken which clearly shows the open space is surplus 
to requirements; the open space would be replaced by an equivalent or better provision; or the 
development is for alternative sports and recreation provision, the needs for which clearly outweigh 
the loss.

Section 12 - Conservation of Heritage Assets 
Account should be taken of the desirability of sustaining/enhancing heritage assets; the positive 
contribution that they can make to sustainable communities including economic viability; and the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.  When considering the impact of a new development great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation.  

Planning permission should be refused for development which would lead to substantial harm to or 
total loss of significance unless this is necessary to achieve public benefits that outweigh the 
harm/loss.  In such cases all reasonable steps should be taken to ensure the new development will 
proceed after the harm/ loss has occurred.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

CS17 - The Historic Environment 
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including non-
scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP01 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Applications which accord with policies in the Local Plan and other Development Plan Documents 
will be approved unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where there are no relevant 
policies, the Council will grant permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

4

36



PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

PP16 - The Landscaping and Biodiversity Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes provision for the retention of trees 
and natural features which contribute significantly to the local landscape or biodiversity.

PP17 - Heritage Assets 
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the 
significance of the asset or its setting.  Development which would have detrimental impact will be 
refused unless there are overriding public benefits.

4 Consultations/Representations
It should be noted that at the time of writing this committee report a second round of consultation 
has taken place with the Parish Council, Councillor Holdich, Highway Engineers, Sport England, 
the Conservation Officer and the Tree Officer. The deadline for submitting comments is 23 June 
2015. Further information has been submitted about the site selection, why a two storey building is 
required and how the nursery will operate in terms of staffing numbers, opening hours and children 
attending. Additional highways information and revised plans showing changes to the design of the 
building have also been submitted.

Any further representations received from Consultees after the date of writing this Committee 
report will be included in the update report.

Historic England (18.05.15)
No objection. The application should be determined in line with national and local planning policy 
and on the basis of the Local Planning Authority’s Conservation advice.

PCC Tree Officer (02.06.15)
An Arboricultural Report has been submitted in support of the application. The Tree Officer agrees 
with the categorisation of the onsite trees and the broad findings of the report and does not 
therefore object to the removal of the low quality trees to facilitate the temporary site access 
indicated on the initial plans. However the updated plans and tracking information submitted show 
that the access will need to be widened to 6m to meet the Local Highway Authority’s requirements. 
This will involve the removal of an additional two trees and possibly the need to cut back a third 
tree. The agent is going to submit an updated Arboricultural Impact Assessment detailing what 
additional tree works and tree protection measures will be required. This will be included in the 
Committee update report. 

Sport England (16.06.15)
No objection. The submitted additional plan shows sufficient information about how the playing 
field will be protected during construction and restored post construction. Recommend the 
imposition of a compliance condition requiring that the development is carried out in accordance 
with the details shown on the approved plan unless otherwise agreed with the LPA in conjunction 
with Sport England.

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (16.06.15)
No objection. No changes are proposed to the existing car or cycle parking facilities. The 
temporary access will need to be widened to 6m. It is recommended that a condition requiring the 
access details and a construction management plan are imposed on any permission granted.

Glinton Parish Council (20.05.15)
No objection in principle but object to the current application in terms of the design of the building, 
materials and the likely impact on the Glinton Conservation Area. The Parish Council were very 
disappointed that the applicant and agent have not addressed any of the observations previously 
made in the revised submitted details. The Parish Council remain of the view that the design fails 

5

37



to recognise that the proposed construction is in a conservation area. Members were of the opinion 
that the design should be more in keeping with other buildings in the conservation area and use 
traditional materials. Applications should be judged consistently. This design would not be 
acceptable from any other resident and that cost constraints were no justification for approving 
applications that lack merit. 

Councillor J Holdich 
Re-iterates the view of the Parish Council and would like the application to be referred to planning 
committee if recommended for approval.

PCC Conservation Officer (21.05.15)
No objection. On balance, I am of the opinion that the form and height of the building would not 
harm the character of this part of the Glinton Conservation area or the setting of the grade I church.  
This is because future residential development to the land south of the former public house will 
impact on views from Lincoln Road towards the church spire, the building is not taller than the 
backdrop of the school buildings and the mature trees in the foreground that would provide some 
seasonal screening breaking up direct views of the proposed building.

Welland & Deeping Internal Drainage Board 
No comments received.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 
Initial consultations: 5
Total number of responses: 6
Total number of objections: 4
Total number in support: 0

Four letters have been received in response to the initial consultations sent to neighbours raising 
the following issues:
 Neighbour to the east of the location of the current temporary mobile unit is concerned that 

once the new building is constructed, the removal of the old building will take away the privacy 
and noise reduction currently offered to them by the mobile unit.

 Neighbour to the east would like to see the current shrubs near the mobile retained and even 
added to in order that the boundary to their property is sympathetic and to aid in noise 
reduction.

 Concerns that there are inaccuracies in the heritage statement.
 Concerns that the first floor part of the nursery would overlook the rear of our property (number 

12 Rectory Lane, to the east of the application site). Part of our rear garden’s boundary with 
the school field has no trees or foliage and would therefore be overlooked. Some screening 
would be welcomed.

 Concerns that the proposed building is excessive in scale and height, would block sun and 
light into our garden, be overbearing and dominate the view from our property, number 3 
School Lane.

 Concerns that the first floor windows in the north and south facing elevations will overlook the 
rear of our property and end of our garden and sitting area respectively (number 3 School 
Lane). 

 Concerns about the two storey design of the building and whether the proposed materials and 
finish are acceptable given that the site is within the Conservation area.

 The two storey building will be very visible from Lincoln Road and detract from the prominent 
church spire.

 Concerns that the existing tall boiler room, which is visible from Lincoln Road should not be 
used as an excuse to build the proposed two storey building. 

 Consider that a single storey design would be more appropriate.
 Concerns about the noise generated from the nursery facility.
 Concerns about the hours of operation and potential for use of the building at weekends and 

evenings.

6

38



 Concerns that the new building will result in a significant increase in the number of pupils using 
the building.

 Concerns about lowering the age of children attending the new facility, which will increase the 
impact of the noise and disruption on our property (number 3 School Lane).

 Concerns that the building may be available for hire with the potential of music and or alcohol 
license.

 Our 3 mature trees will not obscure the building as they are pollarded every 2 years to 
maintain sun and light into our garden and they are not evergreen (number 3 School Lane).

 The land to the south of Happy Faces has not been granted planning permission yet.
 Concerns that extra parking is not being provided which will be required if the facility is 

enlarged.

Second Consultation 
It should be noted that at the time of writing this committee report a second round of consultation 
with neighbours has taken place and that the deadline for submitting comments is 23 June 2015. 
Further information has been submitted about the site selection, why a two storey building is 
required and how the nursery will operate in terms of staffing numbers, opening hours and children 
attending. Additional highways information and revised plans showing changes to the design of the 
building have also been submitted.

One neighbour has responded raising the following concerns:
 Concerns regarding any possible re-location of cycle parking and provision of a waiting area 

for parents in the location of the current nursery facility in terms of noise, disturbance and a 
loss of privacy to my property.

 The conifer hedge at 3 School Lane could be reduced in height (compared to current height) 
meaning that the building would be more obvious visually and therefore detriment to the 
outlook from Number 3 and conservation area generally.  The trees on Number 3 only have a 
5-10 year lifespan and 1 is due for removal this year so there screening effect can’t be relied 
upon.

 The applications statement which discounted the alternative sites within the School is 
contradictory and should be discarded.

 To stop damage to the conservation area and views on the Church from Church Road and 
Lincoln Road the facility should be built on the site of the existing mobile.

Any further representations from neighbours will be included in the Committee update report.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main planning issues are:

 The principle of the development
 The impact of the development on the character and appearance of the Glinton Conservation 

Area
 The impact of the development on neighbour amenity
 Highway Implications
 Landscaping implications
 Other issues

a) The principle of the development 
Section 8 (School Development) of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states 
that Local Planning Authorities should give great weight to the need to expand or alter schools. 
The existing nursery provides pre-school (breakfast club) and after school club facilities to 

7

39



pupils attending the school as well as pre-school sessions to children prior to starting school, 
in order to prepare them for entry to school. The mobile unit from which the service is 
delivered has temporary planning permission until 15 August 2015. The school consider that 
the mobile unit, which has been in situ for over 20 years is reaching the end of its useful life 
and does not adequately meet the facility’s current requirements and will not be viable long 
term. 

Impact of proposal on sports field provision
Sport England has not objected to the proposal. The proposal will have minimal impact on the 
playing field and is therefore considered to meet exemption E3 of Sport England’s playing 
fields policy, which relates to development that only affects land incapable of forming part of a 
playing pitch and would lead to no loss of ability to use/size of pitch. The applicant has 
provided sufficient information to show how the playing field will be protected during the 
construction phase and re-instated post construction. It is however, recommended that a 
compliance condition is imposed on any permission granted to ensure that the development is 
carried out in accordance with these details. 

It is considered that the proposal for a new nursery facility can be supported in principle in 
accordance with Section 8 (School Development) of the NPPF and will provide a needed as 
well as improved community facility, which is sustainable, more flexible and able to adapt the 
school’s ongoing requirements and will not adversely harm the existing sports field provision 
(specifically paragraph 74), in accordance with Section 6 (Sustainable Development) of the 
NPPF and Policy P01 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD. 

b) The impact of the development on the character of the Glinton Conservation Area
The building has been designed in response to the school’s needs for a sustainable, functional 
and flexible space, which delivers against the differing educational requirements of the 
children attending the facility. The school have advised that the current temporary mobile unit 
does not adequately meet these needs and is coming to the end of its lifespan, hence a 
permanent solution is needed. The design is proposed as two storey as there is insufficient 
available land on the site to accommodate the facility and the needed floor space at single 
storey height without encroaching on the sports field, which would be objected to by Sports 
England, and potentially would not be on Diocese land and the development would not 
therefore be eligible for funding.  Re-developing the existing site is not viable as this would 
mean that the school would have to close the nursery whilst building the new facility and 
providing a temporary facility would be too costly amongst other reasons (see background 
section above which provides further information regarding site constraints).

The proposed nursery will sit to the rear of the existing main school building on a site with 
varied styles of architecture and building form. The proposal is of a simple form and at 
approximately 6 m high will be lower than the main school building. The west elevation will be 
a simple finish of vertical timber cladding. There are a number of mature trees along the 
western site boundary and a mature conifer hedge along the boundary between number 3 
School Lane and its boundary to the south west with the car park of Happy Faces (a private 
nursery on the land adjacent to the School). The land to the south of Happy Faces has 
previously been granted planning permission for residential development. Whilst the most 
recent consent has lapsed the site is likely to be subject to a further planning application in the 
near future for residential development. 

The Conservation Officer has confirmed that he does not object to the development and that 
on balance he does not consider that the form and the height of the building would harm this 
part of the Glinton Conservation Area or the setting of the Grade I church given that; the future 
residential development on the land to the south of Happy Faces will impact on views from 
Lincoln Road towards the church spire, the building is not taller than the backdrop of the 
school building, and  that the mature trees in the foreground would provide some seasonal 
screening breaking up direct views of the proposed building. The trees are within the 
Conservation Area and as such cannot just be removed or cut back without consent and their 

8

40



presence is therefore material although it is recognised that a trees age span can vary.

The design of the building itself is functional and whilst it could be improved upon, it is 
considered that the design as submitted given its position within the site and its overall scale 
and form is not sufficiently harmful in terms of the impact on the character of the Conservation 
area as to warrant the refusal of the application or changes to the design and materials that 
would render the scheme unviable. Revisions have been made to the internal facing 
elevations to provide some contrast in materials and more interest given the buildings use as a 
nursery within school grounds. The west facing elevation has been kept simple and it is 
considered that as it weathers the finish will sit beyond the trees and not be visually obtrusive 
when viewed from Lincoln Road. It is recommended that details of the materials and external 
finish of the building are secured via planning condition.

It is therefore considered that the proposed design, siting and height of the nursery are, on 
balance, acceptable in accordance with Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework, 
Policies CS16 and CS17 of the Peterborough Core strategy and Policies PP01, PP02 and 
PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

c) Impact of the development on neighbour amenity
Four letters of objection have been received to the development from nearby neighbours. The 
neighbour to the west side of the application site, at number 3 School Lane, is closest to the 
proposed development and has expressed concerns that the development will be overbearing, 
result in overlooking/loss of privacy and increased noise and disturbance adjacent to their 
boundary. The proposed building will be set back from the rear elevation of number 3 School 
Lane by approximately 15.5 m at the closest point with the viewing angle being oblique rather 
than direct. The applicant has amended the design so that the first floor windows in the north 
facing (front elevation) are obscure glazed and it is considered that this will overcome the 
perception of the occupier of the development overlooking them. It is recommended that a 
compliance condition is imposed on any permission granted to secure this detail.  

The building will be set back from the common boundary to the west by approximately 6.3m at 
the closest point. Number 3 School lane has a large south facing rear garden. The property’s 
garage and mature trees sit adjacent to the common boundary. Taking account of this 
separation, the site orientation and number 3’s large garden it is not considered that the 
proposal at approximately 6.3m away from the boundary would be unduly overbearing or 
result in unacceptable overshadowing to their large rear amenity area. The neighbour is 
concerned that if the trees were to die or indeed during the winter months when there is no 
leaf cover that they will not obscure the building. However, it is considered from an impact on 
neighbour amenity perspective that given the separation distance and site orientation that 
without the trees the development would not be unacceptable. However, it is recognised that 
in their current form the trees will provide screening.

Neighbours have also expressed concerns that the development will result in increased noise 
and disturbance and potentially be used for private hire parties. It is not envisaged that the 
facility will operate differently from the current set up with 4 members of staff and 
approximately 37 children with the potential to rise to a maximum of 45 children with potential 
use from other community groups outside of these times as is currently the case. Any 
significant use beyond this scope, if deemed to be a material change in use, from any 
permission granted would require further planning permission and would be assessed 
accordingly. 

The existing temporary mobile unit will be removed once the new facility has been constructed 
and the land re-instated to playground. One nearby neighbour has expressed concerns that 
the existing mobile unit helped buffer noise from the nursery and that its loss will take this 
protection away. They have requested that the existing shrubs are retained and possibly 
added too. Given that the nursery will be moved further from their boundary and taking 
account of the separation distance of approximately 41m it is not considered that the new 

9

41



nursery will have an increased impact rather a reduced impact or that it would be reasonable 
to insist that the school landscape this area.

It is not therefore considered that the proposal will result in an increase of noise and 
disturbance to nearby neighbours or be unacceptable within the school setting.  It is also not 
considered that the proposal will result in an unacceptable impact on the neighbour to the west 
of the site, number 3 School Lane, in terms of overlooking, overbearing or overshadow. The 
proposal is therefore in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
and Policy PP03 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

d) Highways Implications
The Local Highway Authority has not objected to the development. Additional tracking 
information has been submitted and shows that the proposed temporary vehicular access will 
need to be widened to at least 6m. It is considered that access details can be secured by 
condition. It is also recommended that a construction management plan is secured via 
condition.

The proposal is for a replacement nursery facility with no significant change in the number of 
staff or children. The nursery does not currently have a car park and no changes are proposed 
to the school’s existing car or cycle parking facilities as a result of this application. 

The proposal is therefore considered in accordance with Section 4 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework, Policy CS14 of the Core Strategy and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD. 

e) Landscaping Implications
The Tree Officer has not objected to the development. An Arboricultural Report was submitted 
with the application and identifies which trees are to be retained and provides details of 
appropriate tree protection measures to ensure that the trees are not damaged throughout the 
construction phase. This relates to the trees adjacent to the western site boundary and those 
to the south of the proposed temporary vehicular access. 

Three low quality trees are proposed for removal to the southern corner of the school playing 
field to facilitate temporary access to the site for the construction period. The Tree Officer is in 
agreement with the removal of these trees and does not consider that their removal will have 
an adverse impact on amenity. However, the Local Highway Authority has advised that the 
access will need to be increased in width to 6m. It is unclear from the submitted information if 
this will require the removal of a further two trees and the cutting back of 1 tree that have not 
already been assessed in the submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment. The agent is 
therefore going to clarify and update the Arboricultural Impact Assessment to identify if any 
further tree removals will be required and provide the appropriate associated tree protection 
measures for further consultation with the Local Planning Authority’s Tree Officer. The 
outcome of this will be included in the Committee update report. 

Subject to clarification on any additional tree removals and securing any associated tree 
protection measures it is considered that the proposed development is in accordance with 
Policy PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD in that it will not result in an adverse 
impact on the existing landscape character of the site. Appropriate tree protection measures 
will be secured by condition ensuring that the retained trees are protected throughout the 
construction phase and additional landscaping sought. The recommended conditions will be 
included on the update report.

6 Conclusions

 The principle of the development is in accordance with Sections 6 and 8 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework which supports sustainable development and encourages LPAS to 
give weight to a schools needs to expand and alter.

10

42



 The nursery building given its simple form and finish, set to the rear of the main school building 
and partially screened by mature trees and shrubs in the foreground will not be significantly 
harmful to the Glinton Conservation Area or detract from the setting of the grade I listed church 
at the front of the school site.

 The nursery by reason of its separation from and relationship to neighbouring dwellings and 
scale of operation will not result in an unacceptable impact on neighbour amenity in terms of 
overbearing, overshadowing, overlooking or noise and nuisance.

 Suitable access to the site can be achieved, via condition. The existing car parking will not be 
altered. The development will not therefore result in a detrimental impact on highway safety.

 The proposed development will not result in an unacceptable impact on the landscape 
character of the site as tree protection measures will be secured via condition to ensure that 
the trees are protected throughout the development phase.

The proposed development is therefore in accordance with Sections 6, 8 and 12 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Policies CS13, CS16 and CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
and Policies PP01, PP02, PP03, PP12, PP13, PP16 and PP17 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD. 

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED 
subject to the following conditions:

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

C 2 No development shall take place until details of all materials proposed for use in the 
external elevations of the new nursery and linking canopy have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The details submitted for approval 
shall include the name of the manufacturer, the product type, colour (using BS4800) and 
reference number. The development shall not be carried out except in accordance with the 
approved details.

Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 
accordance with Policies CS16 and CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) 
and Policy PP2 and PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012). This is a pre-
commencement condition because the appearance and finish of the materials is integral to 
the design of the development as a whole in an historic setting.

C3 Notwithstanding the submitted information and prior to the commencement of the 
development, hereby approved details showing improvements to the proposed construction 
access shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
details shall show an access width of at least 6.5m with 2m x 2m pedestrian visibility splays 
either side of the access. Details shall also be included to show how the temporary access 
will be closed and secured post construction. The access shall thereafter be implemented 
throughout the construction period and subsequently closed to traffic post construction in 
accordance with the approved plans.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD. 
This is a pre-commencement condition because this information is integral to ensuring that 

11

43



safe access into and out of the site can be achieved throughout the construction phase.

C4 Prior to the commencement of any development a Construction Management Plan (CMP) 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CMP 
shall include (but not exclusively) the following:

 Haul Routes to the site.
 Temporary parking areas for contractors vehicles.
 Location of storage compounds and site welfare facilities.
 Traffic Management Signals Scheme for the B1443 to allow vehicles to safely enter                

and leave the site access.
 Wheel wash facilities
 Parking, turning and loading/unloading areas for delivery vehicles.

The construction of the proposed development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance 
with the approved CMP throughout the construction phase.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD. 
This is a pre-commencement condition because this information is integral to ensuring that 
safe access into and out of the site can be achieved throughout the construction phase.

C5 The existing playing field shall be protected during construction and restored following 
construction in accordance with the details shown on the approved plan reference: Sport 
England - Field -14/3855/P12. 

Reason: To ensure that the playing field is protected during and after the construction 
phase, in the interests of recreational provision in accordance with Paragraph 74 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

C6 Within 3 months of the first use of the new nursery facility, the existing mobile unit shall be 
removed.

Reason: to ensure that the temporary building is removed in the interest of the amenity of 
the area in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy and Policy 
PP02 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.

C7 The first floor windows serving the 'Void over Activity Room' space, Kitchen and toilets,  in 
the north facing elevation shall be obscure glazed and non-opening unless the parts of the 
window which can be opened are more than 1.7 metres above the floor level of the room in 
which the window is installed and shall subsequently be retained as such.

Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenities of the adjoining occupiers, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012). and subsequently retained as such 
in perpetuity. 

C8 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans:

 Location Plan
 Access and Egress to school  - Tracking Plan -14/3855/P11

12

44



 Proposed Elevations -14/3855/05
 Block Plan-14/3855/P13
 Site Proposals Plan - 14/3855/01 Rev A
 Sport England - Field - 14/3855/P12
 Proposed Floor Layout - 14/3855/04

Reason: To clarify the approved details and to ensure the development accords with the 
reasoning and justification for granting reserved matters approval as set out above.

Copy to Councillors Lamb D and Holdich MBE J

 

13

45



This page is intentionally left blank

46



47



This page is intentionally left blank

48



Planning and EP Committee 7 July 2015 Item number 3

Application Ref: 15/00621/FUL 

Proposal: Erection of detached bungalow with access

Site: Land To Rear Of, 37 And 39 Lincoln Road, Glinton, Peterborough
Applicant: Ms Lenton  and Hannan

Agent: Mr David Shaw

Referred by: Glinton Parish Council
Reason: The Parish Council were equally divided in their opinion of the merits of 

the plans before them. 

Site visit: 15.05.2015

Case officer: Mr M A Thomson
Telephone No. 01733 453478
E-Mail: matt.thomson@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: REFUSE  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site Description
The application site forms part of two rear gardens, serving no's 37 and 39 Lincoln Road, a 
detached bungalow and two storey dwelling, and has a site area of 400 square metres. Both 
properties front onto Lincoln Road and have direct vehicular access to Lincoln Road; No.37 has 
two off street parking spaces, and No.39 could accommodate up to 4 off-street parking spaces to 
front. The application site is set back some 50 metres from Lincoln Road and is surrounded by a 
two metre high close board fence. There are a number of trees within and immediately adjacent to 
the site, which include a willow and lime tree, several fruit trees and a leylandii hedge.  

To the north of the site is the rear garden to No.41 Lincoln Road, to the west is a Residential Care 
Home (Garden Lodge), to the south-west is a detached bungalow (No. 35A Lincoln Road), to the 
south is a recently built detached bungalow (No.35B Lincoln Road) approved under 09/01550/FUL, 
and to the south-east is the former site of a detached bungalow (No.35 Lincoln Road) which has 
recently been demolished. No's 37 and 39 Lincoln Road are to the immediate east. 

The application site would be accessed by an existing access from Lincoln Road, which serves 
No's 35A, 37 and a Residential Care Home. It is understood that there are a maximum of 10 
people residing at the Care Home.  

Planning History
In 2010 and 2011 pre-planning advice was sought for the erection of two dwellings 
(PAOTH/10/00044) and a single dwelling (PAOTH/11/00115), both of which were not supported by 
Planning Officers on both character and context, as well as highway grounds. 

In 2012 a planning application for the erection of a 2 bed bungalow was refused (12/00297/FUL)  
and was dismissed at appeal (APP/J0540/A/12/2179519). The Inspector concluded that the 
proposal '...would fail to integrate itself successfully into its surroundings and would be harmful to 
the character and appearance of the area ... [and] the increased use of the existing access would 
result in additional coming and goings that would interfere with the quiet enjoyment, the occupiers 
of nearby dwellings, would reasonably expect from their homes...' 

1

49



The appeal was dismissed against Policies CS16, PP2 and PP3, which remain the up-to-date and 
relevant Local policies in relation to the current application. A copy of the appeal decision has been 
attached as Appendix A. 

In 2009 planning permission was granted for a development at No. 35 Lincoln Road which has 
some similarities to the application before Committee. Planning Permission (Ref: 09/01550/FUL) 
was given to rebuild the existing dwelling (No.35) which fronts Lincoln Road, and erect a new 
bungalow to rear. This development has been carried out and the new bungalow is addressed as 
No. 35B. The similarities between the current proposal before committee and the development at 
No. 35 is that they are both tandem/backland developments. 

It should be highlighted that this 2009 decision, which was considered at planning appeal and 
dismissed by the Inspectorate in 2012, pre dated the National Planning Policy Framework and the 
adoption of the current development plan. 

Proposal
The applicant seeks consent for the erection of a single storey two-bed dwelling. The proposal 
would have a maximum footprint of 9.6m x 10m respectively, and would stand at 2.1m to eaves 
and 5.2 metres to ridge. 

The proposal illustrates off street parking for two vehicles with a turning area to front. 

The scheme now submitted differs from the 2012 scheme in the following ways; 

- the footprint of the dwelling has been reduced from 99.5sqm to 92sqm; and
- the size of the garden has been increased from 146sqm to 193sqm; 

The access onto Lincoln Road and access track widths are similar, with an area of landscaping 
and low wall introduced to the southern visibility splay.

2 Planning History

12/00297/FUL - Construction of 1 x 2 bed bungalow (REFUSED)

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS01 - Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside 
The location/ scale of new development should accord with the settlement hierarchy. Development 
in the countryside will be permitted only where key criteria are met.

CS10 - Environment Capital 
Development should make a clear contribution towards the Council’s aspiration to become 
Environment Capital of the UK.

CS13 - Development Contributions to Infrastructure Provision 
Contributions should be secured in accordance with the Planning Obligations Implementation 
Scheme SPD (POIS).

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

2

50



CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

CS21 - Biodiversity and Geological Conservation 
Development should conserve and enhance biodiversity/ geological interests unless no alternative 
sites are available and there are demonstrable reasons for the development.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP01 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Applications which accord with policies in the Local Plan and other Development Plan Documents 
will be approved unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where there are no relevant 
policies, the Council will grant permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP04 - Amenity Provision in New Residential Development 
Proposals for new residential development should be designed and located to ensure that they 
provide for the needs of the future residents.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

PP16 - The Landscaping and Biodiversity Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes provision for the retention of trees 
and natural features which contribute significantly to the local landscape or biodiversity.

4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (13.05.15)
Comments - vehicle to pedestrian visibility splays of 2m x 2m shall be required on both sides of the 
new access. The access dimensions and parking and turning facilities for the development are 
acceptable.

Archaeological Officer (18.05.15)
No objection - subject to a condition being attached securing a written scheme of archaeological 
investigation and evaluation by trial trenching.

Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service 
No comments received.

3

51



PCC Pollution Team 
No comments received.

Waste Management 
No comments received.

Welland & Deeping Internal Drainage Board 
No comments received.

Glinton Parish Council (20.05.15)
Comments - We noted that a previous application for this site had been refused and the refusal 
upheld on appeal. The basis of the refusal had been the small size of the bungalow and its garden. 
Planners had been of the opinion that the development was not in keeping with surrounding 
development. We noted that the application before us was smaller to increase the garden size. We 
also noted the objections of neighbours. Councillor Johnson proposed that the parish council 
object to these plans on the same grounds as those of the planners and inspector. Parish council 
were equally divided 5-5 in their opinion of the merits of the plans before them. RESOLVED to ask 
the city council to refer this application to a planning committee

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 4
Total number of responses: 3
Total number of objections: 2
Total number in support: 0

The Parish Council are undecided. Two letters of representation have been received raising the 
following concerns;

 The scheme is contrary to current planning policies and was refused by the Inspectorate;
 Character and Appearance;
 Overdevelopment of the plot, exacerbated by potential future sun room;
 Neighbour amenity; 
 The development would have an impact on the peaceful and tranquil environment; 
 Proximity of boundary wall to care home;  
 Substandard garden size for future occupiers; 
 No fencing proposed between the site and No. 39. 
 Impact on trees and wildlife;
 There are leylandii between No. 39 and 41 which have a height restriction of 4.5m to 5m 

(EPA/657859)
 Pedestrian and Highway safety;
 The OS Plan is not up to date/accurate;
 Construction noise and disruption; and
 Impact on solar panels affixed to No. 41's swimming pool roof. 

5 Assessment of the planning issues

Principle of Development
Policy CS1 identifies Glinton as a 'Limited Growth Village'; this policy states 'there is no absolute 
restriction on the number of dwellings that would be acceptable; this would be determined by 
applying Local Development Framework policies relating to such matters of density, amenity [and] 
traffic implications.' As such the principle of a new dwelling can be considered however is required 
to satisfy the following matters.  

Design and Layout

4

52



Policies CS16 and PP2 states 'new development should respond appropriately to the particular 
character of the site and its surroundings ... [and] should not result in unacceptable impact on the 
amenities of occupiers of any nearby properties'. This is consistent with the Villages SPD (2011) 
for Glinton, which states 'the design of new buildings should be sympathetic to neighbouring 
buildings and in keeping with the village environment'. 

The area is characterised by large bungalows and two storey dwellings, situated on large plots with 
off street parking for between 2 and 4 vehicles to front. No's 37 and 41 both have large single 
storey rear extensions, which project in the region of 15m and 17m respectively. 

Reason 1 of the 2012 refusal of planning permission (12/00297/FUL) and Paragraph 6 of the 
dismissed appeal (12/2179519) concluded that ''...the dwelling would occupy an 
uncharacteristically small plot in comparison to the majority of nearby dwellings [and] this would 
give an impression of a cramped, over-development of the site .... the proposal would result in nos. 
37 and 39 standing within plots that would be much reduced in size ... [which] ... would bring about 
an unwelcome change, at odds with the prevailing development pattern of this part of the village''.

Further to assessing the revised application the footprint of the dwelling has been reduced by 
some 5sqm and the plot size has increased in the region of 30sqm. However, these minor changes 
are not considered to overcome Officer or the Inspector's concerns previously raised. By enlarging 
the plot this reduces the amount of garden to Numbers 37 and 39 Lincoln Road, further eroding the 
established and identified character of the area. 

As referred to above a new bungalow (No.35B) was approved in 2009 (App Ref: 09/01550/FUL) 
and has been built to the rear of No.35 Lincoln Road; as part of this planning permission has been 
implemented, this planning permission is extant. Part of this approval requires the replacement of 
No.35, positioning it to the South, to allow the creation of a new access along the Northern 
boundary onto Lincoln Road. 

The existing access of the current proposal would be significantly widened from 3.6 metres to 5 
metres at the widest point to comply with Highway standards, and would require 2m x 2m visibility 
splays to Lincoln Road; this would effectively create a new road, directly onto Lincoln Road. In 
isolation the proposed access would be unduly prominent on the street scene, forming a large, 
incongruous and over-engineered feature which would be out of keeping with the established 
context of the area and the village environment. Its prominence would be exacerbated when 
considered alongside the access which is to serve No.35B, as well as cutting across the front 
garden of No. 37 Lincoln Road; combined these accesses would form a large gap in the street 
scene, dedicated purely for the purposes of accessing back land, which is considered to adversely 
impact the character of its surroundings. 

As such the proposal fails to integrate itself successfully into its surroundings and would be harmful 
to the character and appearance of the area and the proposal is contrary to Policy CS16 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy (2011) and PP2 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012). 

Access, Parking and Highway Safety 
The proposed dwelling would be accessed by a to-be revised gravel driveway which serves No. 37 
Lincoln Road, No. 35A Lincoln Road and Garden Lodge (Residential Care Home). It is understood 
the Care Home caters for up to 10 residents, with staff, delivery vehicles and family visiting the site 
on a regular basis. 

A letter of representations received states that the proposal would increase the intensity of use of 
the access, and is not wide enough to allow two vehicles travelling in the opposite directions to 
pass pedestrians or wheel chair users safely. However, further to receiving comments from the 
Local Highway Authority who have not objected to the access arrangement, it is not considered the 
proposal would give rise to a Highway safety hazard. Highways have however requested updated 
vehicle to pedestrian visibility splays, which could be secured by condition should planning 
permission be granted. 

5

53



Neighbour Amenity 
Concerns have been raised that the development would harm the peaceful and tranquil 
environment, it would result in overlooking to No. 41 Lincoln Road, as well as overlooking and a 
loss of privacy to 2 facing bedroom windows on the east elevation of the Care Home. The structure 
is single storey in height, therefore levels could be controlled by way of planning condition and the 
site would be bounded by 1.8m high boundary treatments. 

The proposal would be sited 14 metres from the rear of No.37 and 22 meters from the rear of No. 
39; as such these properties would retain a sufficient distance for the proposal to not result in a 
loss of outlook. It is considered the outlook from the Care Home is already compromised given 
there is an existing 1.8m high close board fence within 4.5m. 

The layout of the proposal is largely unchanged; these relationships were previously considered by 
the Inspectorate and were not found to be contentious.

With respect to the supporting Planning Statement (Point 10) it is stated a better surface is 
proposed which would benefit wheelchair access and would reduce tyre noise from cars. Whilst 
this may be the case, the proposal would intensify the use of the existing access. Whilst details of 
traffic calming measures have not been provided, these details could be secured by condition 
should planning permission be granted. However, if traffic calming measures were introduced, 
such as speed bumps, there would still remain potential issues of cars revving their engines to 
change gears to reach speeds at which vehicles could realistically travel, bearing in mind two 
vehicles would be able to pass one another without much negotiation or hesitation. As such the 
revised scheme is not considered to overcome the previous reasons for refusal stated within the 
Case officer or Inspector decision. 

The proposal would result in additional coming and goings of vehicles that would interfere with the 
quiet enjoyment the occupiers of nearby dwellings would reasonably expect from their homes, and 
accordingly the proposal is contrary to Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy (2011) and 
PP3 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012). 

Concerns have been raised that the proposed chimney would result in amenity harm, as well as 
smells emanating from the proposed kitchen. These features are not considered to result in harm, 
and smells associated with cooking in a residential area should be expected. 

Amenity of Future Occupiers of the proposed Dwelling 
Further to reviewing the revised plan it is noted that the private amenity space would be marginally 
enlarged, however this is not considered to overcome the reasons for refusal set out above. It is 
noted that a future sun room is proposed, however as details have not been provided it is not 
possible to comment on this feature at this time. Should permission be granted the Local Planning 
Authority would seek to restrict permitted development rights for extensions and outbuildings for 
the avoidance of doubt.  

Biodiversity 
To facilitate development a Willow Tree, a number of fruit trees and conifer hedges would be 
removed. Whilst the Willow Tree appears to be a healthy specimen it is not visually prominent from 
the public realm, as such it would not be eligible for a Tree Preservation Order. 

A letter of representation raised issue with the proposal putting wildlife at risk. The Agent has 
stated there are no protected species on site, however the proposal would result in the loss of a 
number of trees and a conifer hedgerow. Therefore if planning permission were granted, a 
condition would be attached advising no works to trees during bird breeding season as well as 
securing biodiversity enhancements for the site, such as bird and bat boxes. 

It is noted that a leylandii hedge may be subject to height restrictions. The Local Planning Authority 
are not familiar with the reference EPA/657859, however this appears to be a civil matter between 

6

54



the two parties and is separate to the planning process. 

Environmental Capital 
The scheme does not illustrate any on-site renewable energies as part of the proposal, therefore to 
be consistent with the LPA's green planning agenda, if planning permission was approved, a 
condition should be attached stating 'the development shall be constructed so that it achieves a 
Target Emission Ratio of at least 10% better than building regulations at the time of building 
regulation approval being sought'. This is to accord with Policy CS10 if the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011). 

Flood Risk
The application site is not within a Flood Risk Zone. The Drainage Board previously responded, 
stating there is a lack of information on how surface water would be disposed of, nor are there any 
foul sewers in the immediate vicinity. Matters of foul and surface water disposal can be secured by 
way of planning condition. 

Section 106 and the CIL Regulations
As the application was validated after the 24th April 2015 the scheme is captured by the CIL 
regulations. Accordingly a Section 106 Legal Agreement or Unilateral Undertaking is no longer 
sought. 

Other Matters
O/S Plans - It is noted that the ordinance survey drawings are not up to date, however the 
drawings are sufficient for the Case Officer to make their recommendation. 

Construction noise and traffic - Should permission be granted the Local Planning Authority would 
seek to secure a Construction Management Plan for the site, which would limit hours of 
construction. 

Impact on solar panels - It is understood that an adjacent property has a solar panels atop a 
swimming pool roof. The proposed structure is unlikely to result in any overshadowing of the 
panels. 

6 Conclusions

The proposal is unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations, 
including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reasons 
given below.

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is REFUSED for 
the following reasons:
 
R 1 The proposal fails to accord with Policies CS16 and PP2, which seeks to ensure any 

development would not have an adverse impact on the character of the area. The proposed 
dwelling and its associated plot would be significantly smaller than that of the surrounding 
properties, which would result in an overdeveloped and out of keeping form of 
development. To facilitate development this would result in No's 37 and 39 Lincoln Road 
having a smaller plot, which would result in an unacceptably adverse and out of keeping 
form of development that is uncharacteristic of this part of the village. The proposal fails to 
accord with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and PP2 of the 
Peterborough Policies DPD (2012).

 
R 2 The proposal fails to accord with Policies CS16 and PP2, which seeks to ensure any 

development would not have an adverse impact on the character of the area. The proposed 
access would form a large, incongruous and over-engineered access purely serving back 

7

55



land development which would adversely impact on the character of the surrounding area. 
Its prominence would be exacerbated as the access would cut across the front garden of 
No. 37 Lincoln Road and when considered alongside the access which will be created to 
serve No.35B Lincoln Road it would form a large gap within the street scene. This would be 
at odds with the prevailing context of the area. The proposal fails to accord with Policy 
CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and PP2 of the Peterborough 
Policies DPD (2012).

 
R 3 The proposal fails to accord with Policy PP3, which seeks to ensure that any development 

would not result in unacceptable harm to neighbour amenity. The proposal would result in 
additional comings and goings of vehicles that would interfere with the quiet enjoyment, the 
occupiers of nearby dwellings, would reasonable expect from their homes. The proposal 
fails to accord with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and PP3 of 
the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012).

Copies to Councillors Lamb D and Holdich MBE J

8

56



  

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate 

 

 

 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 19 December 2012 

by Richard McCoy  BSc, MSc, DipTP, MRTPI, IHBC 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 18 February 2013 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/J0540/A/12/2179519 

Land to the rear of 37 & 39 Lincoln Road, Glinton, Peterborough PE6 7JS 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 
• The appeal is made by Mrs C Lenton and Miss C Hannan against the decision of 

Peterborough City Council. 
• The application Ref 12/00297/FUL, dated 5 March 2012, was refused by notice dated  

30 April 2012. 

• The development proposed is the erection of a bungalow. 
 

 

Decision 

1. I dismiss the appeal.  

Procedural matters 

2. I note that a Unilateral Undertaking in respect of a commuted sum towards the 

provision of neighbourhood and strategic infrastructure was received by the 

Council.  As a result the Council is no longer pursuing its objection to the 

proposal in this regard and I have dealt with the appeal on this basis.  

3. Since the Council made its decision, saved policies DA6 and H16 of the adopted 

Peterborough Local Plan (1st Replacement) have been superseded by policies 

PP2 and PP4 of the Peterborough Planning Policies (PPP) Development Plan 

Document, adopted 5 December 2012.  I have dealt with the appeal on this 

basis. 

Main Issues 

4. The main issues are the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance 

of the area, the living conditions of the occupiers of nearby dwellings from any 

noise/disturbance and overlooking, and on the living conditions of future 

occupiers from any overshadowing.  

Reasons 

5. The appeal site forms part of the rear gardens of nos. 37 and 39, and is located 

in an area characterised by single and 2 storey dwellings with small front and 

larger rear gardens.  Proposed is the erection of a detached bungalow that 

would share an existing access which serves a residential care home and a 

dwelling.   

5.3 - APPENDIX A

57



Appeal Decision APP/J0540/A/12/2179519 

 

 

www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           2 

6. In my judgement, the proposed dwelling would occupy an uncharacteristically 

small plot in comparison to the majority of nearby dwellings.  This would give 

an impression of a cramped, over-development of the site area which would be 

apparent from the close proximity of the proposed dwelling to the site 

boundaries and the way in which its footprint would occupy a high proportion of 

the available site.  In addition, the proposal would result in nos. 37 and 39 

standing within plots that would be much reduced in size.  This would bring 

about an unwelcome change, at odds with the prevailing development pattern 

of this part of the village.     

7. As for the access, while I agree with the appellants that the proposal would 

increase the size of the existing access (in terms of what is on the ground and 

what has planning permission) by a limited amount, it would nonetheless result 

in the widened section cutting across the front garden of no. 37, creating an 

incongruous visual relationship.   

8. Accordingly, the proposal would fail to integrate itself successfully into its 

surroundings and would be harmful to the character and appearance of the 

area, contrary to policy PP2 of the PPP and policy CS16 of the adopted 

Peterborough Core Strategy (CS) Development Plan Document.  These are 

permissive of developments that would make a positive contribution to the 

quality of the built environment and echo the provisions of paragraph 58 of the 

National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework). 

9. Furthermore, the increased use of the existing access would result in additional 

comings and goings that would interfere with the quiet enjoyment, the 

occupiers of nearby dwellings, would reasonably expect from their homes.  

Accordingly, the proposal would be harmful to their living conditions, contrary 

to policy CS16 of the CS which seeks to prevent developments that would have 

an unacceptable impact on the amenities of the occupiers of any nearby 

dwellings.   

10. Concern was also raised that the existing willow tree within the rear garden of 

no. 39 would overshadow the rear garden of the proposed dwelling.  However, 

while daylight at certain times of the year might be dappled by the tree, given 

the appellants’ uncontested evidence that the tree stands to the east of the 

garden which would have a northerly aspect, this would be unlikely to harm the 

living conditions of future occupiers.   

11. In addition, given the proposed single storey height and the provision of a 

boundary fence which could be made a condition of any grant of planning 

permission as suggested in the officer’s delegated report, I consider that there 

would be no harmful overlooking of neighbouring properties.  Against this 

background, the proposal would not conflict with policy PP4 of the PPP.  

Nevertheless, these considerations would not outweigh the other harm I have 

identified.  

12. My attention was drawn to other nearby developments claimed to be similar.  

However, these pre-date the Framework and the adoption of the current 

development plan.  In any event, their presence does not persuade me to allow 

a further development that I consider would be harmful to the character and 

appearance of the area and the living conditions of the occupiers of nearby 

dwellings. 

 

5.3 - APPENDIX A

58



Appeal Decision APP/J0540/A/12/2179519 

 

 

www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           3 

Conclusion 

13. For the reasons given above and taking all of the matters raised in the 

representations into account, including the appellants’ argument that the plot 

size is suitable for the scale of dwelling proposed, I conclude that the appeal 

should be dismissed. 

 

Richard McCoy 

INSPECTOR 

5.3 - APPENDIX A

59



This page is intentionally left blank

60



61



This page is intentionally left blank

62



Planning and EP Committee 7 July 2015 Item number 4

Application Ref: 15/00667/FUL 

Proposal: Proposed three bedroom detached dwelling with associated driveway

Site: 17 Castor Road, Marholm, Peterborough, PE6 7JA
Applicant: Mr & Mrs E Flanz

Agent: Mr David Shaw
David Shaw

Referred by: Director of Growth and Regeneration
Reason: Previous decision by Members to refuse planning permission against 

Officer recommendation

Site visit: 03.06.2015

Case officer: Miss Louise Lovegrove
Telephone No. 01733 454439
E-Mail: louise.lovegrove@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: REFUSE  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings
The application site is located in a prominent position within the village of Marholm, at the junction 
of Castor Road, Walton Road and Stamford Road.  The site is situated between two existing 
residential properties - 16 Walton Road and 17 Castor Road, the latter of which the site forms part 
of the garden to.  Within the site itself is there is a prefabricated detached single storey garage and 
static mobile home (albeit this does not have planning permission to be sited).  Vehicular access is 
taken via a dropped kerb crossing from Castor Road and there is presently on-site parking 
associated with the host dwellinghouse.  

The application site is located on the edge of the Marholm Conservation Area and situated 
opposite the Grade II Listed War Memorial, located on the village green.  There is a large mature 
Sycamore tree to the front of the site which reaches a height of 14 metres.

Proposal
The application seeks planning permission for the construction of a two storey detached 3-bed 
dwelling with associated access improvements and car parking.  

It should be noted that the application has been submitted following refusal by Members of the 
Planning and Environmental Protection Committee of a previous application for similar 
development under application reference 14/02145/FUL.  This was refused for the following 
reason:

R1 The proposed dwelling, by way of its size and siting on the plot, would have a significant 
adverse impact on the residential amenity of the occupants of  number 16 Walton Road, by 
way of an overbearing impact and loss of outlook from primary habitable rooms. This is 
contrary to policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy (DPD) 2011 and PP3 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies (DPD) 2012.

1

63



The current application differs from this earlier refused scheme in the following ways:
 The two storey element of the proposed dwelling has been reduced in depth by approximately 

1 metre, with the front elevation set back within the site by the same distance (the submitted 
Proposed Site Plan identifies the position of the earlier proposed dwelling); and

 A single storey rear element has been included.  

2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
14/01310/FUL Proposed three bedroom detached dwelling 

with associated driveway
Withdrawn 04/09/2014

14/02145/FUL Proposed three bedroom detached dwelling 
with associated driveway

Refused 06/03/2015

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Section 66 - General duty as respects listed buildings in exercise of planning functions 
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic interest 
which it possesses.

Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions. 
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the Conservation Area or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 7 - Good Design 
Development should add to the overall quality of the area; establish a strong sense of place; 
optimise the site potential; create and sustain an appropriate mix of uses; support local facilities 
and transport networks; respond to local character and history while not discouraging appropriate 
innovation; create safe and accessible environments which are visually attractive as a result of 
good architecture and appropriate landscaping. Planning permission should be refused for 
development of poor design.

Section 12 - Conservation of Heritage Assets 
Account should be taken of the desirability of sustaining/enhancing heritage assets; the positive 
contribution that they can make to sustainable communities including economic viability; and the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.  When considering the impact of a new development great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation.  

Planning permission should be refused for development which would lead to substantial harm to or 
total loss of significance unless this is necessary to achieve public benefits that outweigh the 
harm/loss.  In such cases all reasonable steps should be taken to ensure the new development will 
proceed after the harm/ loss has occurred.

2

64



Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS01 - Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside 
The location/ scale of new development should accord with the settlement hierarchy. Development 
in the countryside will be permitted only where key criteria are met.

CS02 - Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development 
Provision will be made for an additional 25 500 dwellings from April 2009 to March 2026 in 
strategic areas/allocations.

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

CS17 - The Historic Environment 
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including non-
scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

PP16 - The Landscaping and Biodiversity Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes provision for the retention of trees 
and natural features which contribute significantly to the local landscape or biodiversity.

PP17 - Heritage Assets 
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the 
significance of the asset or its setting.  Development which would have detrimental impact will be 
refused unless there are overriding public benefits.

Peterborough City Council Developer Contributions SPD (2015)

3

65



4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Conservation Officer (19.06.15)
No objections – The proposed amendment from the previous scheme, to set the dwellinghouse 
back by 1 metre from the streetscene, would represent a neutral change in terms of the impact on 
the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  The proposal would still visually enhance 
the ‘gap’ within the built form.  The single storey rear element will not form a prominent feature 
within the streetscene, nor detract from the Conservation Area.  As such, the proposal can be 
supported as it would enhance the character and appearance of the surrounding heritage assets.  

PCC Tree Officer (10.06.15)
No objections – The feasibility of a ‘no-dig’ driveway has been demonstrated.  However, there is 
concern that the ‘no-dig’ area may be compacted during construction activities and therefore, 
phasing for tree protection fencing may be required, along with ground protection.  Request a 
condition securing a finalised Method Statement/Tree Protection Plan.  

PCC Archaeological Officer (03.06.15)
No objections – Although the site is located within the core of the medieval settlement, the extent 
of the proposed groundwork is modest.  In addition, the foundations of the former garage are likely 
to have caused truncation of any potential buried remains.  There is therefore no need to secure a 
programme of archaeological work.  

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (03.06.15)
No objections – The proposed access arrangements have previously been deemed acceptable.  
Whilst it would appear that the hedge, which previously blocked the required vehicle-to-pedestrian 
visibility splays, has been removed the splays are not shown on the submitted drawings.  These 
could be secured by condition. 

PCC Pollution Team 
No comments received. 

PCC Waste Management 
No comments received.

Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service 
No comments received.

Marholm Parish Council (09.06.15)
Support – The dwelling will improve the area as long as it is in keeping with the village.  The new 
design and layout is seen as an improvement, and the single storey extension to the rear is a 
better solution.  The Applicant has responded to the issues raised by the neighbour, as the 
dwelling now sites further back from the road giving better visibility.  

In terms of the appearance of the dwelling, we have previously responded stating that we would 
prefer the dwelling to be in keeping with those either side (i.e. rendered).  However, having 
canvassed opinion there are mixed views in the village and we would support a combination of 
stone and render, which would enhance the village but also be in keeping with surrounding 
properties.  If the Planning Department decides that the only option is stone, then we would not 
object to this.  

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 3
Total number of responses: 3
Total number of objections: 2
Total number in support: 1 (Parish Council)

4

66



Two objections have been received from local residents on the following grounds:
 My objections (occupant of No.16 Walton Road) remain the same as per the last two 

applications.  Whilst the Applicant has shown me the plans, the dwelling would look out of 
place and not be in keeping with the two neighbouring properties. 

 I don't want to look out of my kitchen (No.16 Walton Road) to a stone wall, or have my garden 
put into shade.  

 The driveway will come out onto a busy road next to a junction and if the Parish Council thinks 
that cars do not speed through the 30mph area, they need to wake up.

 The owner of No.17 does not seem to have any consideration for the village, residents, or the 
Conservation Area. 

 The proposed dwelling looks an eyesore. 
 The proposal is well over the waste sewage pipes which run across the middle of the plot to a 

manhole in the garden of No.17 (which serves Nos.14-16 Walton Road).  I (occupant of No.15 
Walton Road) doubt that this would be satisfactory as the sewer has been blocked 2/3 times in 
the last 16 years.  

 The exit onto Castor Road is a very busy junction, with heavy goods vehicles going to the 
farms along Stamford Road (due to the weight restriction on Walton Road).  This would cause 
an extra hazard and create a more blind junction.  

 Having removed the fence to the site, it gives the appearance that the plot is much larger than 
it actually is.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are:
 Principle of residential development
 Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area and heritage 

assets
 Neighbour amenity
 Access, parking and highway implications
 Tree implications
 Archaeology
 Developer contributions

a) Principle of residential development
The application site is located within the identified settlement boundary of Marholm, which 
itself is identified in the settlement hierarchy as a 'small village'.  Policy CS2 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) states that development in these villages of any 
windfall site (a site not formally allocated for development) will be limited to only infill or a 
group of no more than 9 dwellings.  The application proposal represents infilling between two 
lines of established dwellings at the heart of the village and therefore, subject to meeting all 
other policy requirements, the principle of residential development is acceptable.  

b) Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area and 
heritage assets
As detailed in Section 1 above, the application site comprises garden land to the side of No.17 
Castor Road (the host dwellinghouse).  This garden land is set between two residential 
properties of identical design, layout and form and which form a row of three blocks of semi-
detached rendered two storey dwellings along both Walton Road and Castor Road.  With 
regards to impact upon heritage assets, as set out above, the site is located on the edge of the 
Marholm Conservation Area and in close proximity to a number of listed buildings (the War 
Memorial, Blacksmith's Cottage, Almshouses and Fitzwilliam Arms).  Accordingly, the Local 
Planning Authority has a statutory duty to ensure that all new development either preserves or 
enhances the settings of these heritage assets.  

The Marholm Conservation Area appraisal identifies that the locality of the application site, 
namely the village green, is a focal point of the village particularly by virtue of the presence of 

5

67



the War Memorial and village sign. Further, it is an enclosed area given the surrounding 
buildings, stone walls and accordingly has a positive sense of place.  The removal of tall 
conifers to the frontage of the application site has opened up views of the site and emphasised 
a 'gap tooth' effect which 'leak's space.  The proposed dwelling would infill this existing gap 
within the streetscene and it is the view of Officers and the City Council's Conservation Officer 
that new development on the site would add to the sense of enclosure of the village green, 
enhancing its setting.  

The siting of the proposal would respect the established building lines to both streetscenes 
and would ensure adequate gapping between the dwellings to accord with the established built 
form of the area.  By virtue of this careful siting, the proposal would not appear cramped or 
overdeveloped and it is considered therefore that the presence of a building on this site would 
not detract from the overall appearance of the locality or the setting of either the Conservation 
Area or nearby listed buildings.  

In terms of specific design, the proposal seeks the construction of a detached two storey 
dwellinghouse of traditional form, design and materials.  It is acknowledged that Marholm 
Parish Council has previously commented on the appearance of the proposal and stated a 
preference for the dwelling to be in keeping with the properties on either side, therefore it 
should be of a rendered finish.  However, their latest comments on the proposal advise that 
views within the village are mixed and therefore, the Parish Council would be supportive of a 
mixed stone and render appearance and, in the event that the Conservation Officer requires it, 
they would not object to a solely stone finish.  The Conservation Officer considers that the use 
of stone in the treatment of the facade, and replica Collyweston slate would result in a building 
which positively enhances the setting of heritage assets.  Whilst a mirroring treatment of 
render would appear to blend into the streetscene, it would have an effect of preserving the 
setting whereas it is considered that the proposal enhances.  It is the view of the Conservation 
officer that a degree of contrast to the neighbouring dwellings would not be harmful to the 
appearance of the locality and that blending of the proposal would represent a missed 
opportunity for creating a more focal point building to enhance the sense of place to the village 
green.  

With regards to the addition of a single storey rear element to the scheme, this would not be 
readily visible from the public realm.  It is considered that it is of a size and scale which is 
sympathetic to the form of the main bulk of the dwelling and accordingly, it would not appear 
incongruous or at odds with the locality.

On the basis of the above, it is considered that the proposal would enhance the setting of 
nearby heritage assets and would not result in any unacceptable impact to the character, 
appearance or visual amenity of the surrounding area.  On this basis, the proposal is in 
accordance with Section 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990, paragraphs 58, 131, 132 and 137 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), 
Policies CS16 and CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP2 and 
PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

c) Neighbour amenity
Both the host dwellinghouse and neighbouring residential property to the east (No.16 Walton 
Road) have windows at first and ground floor which face towards the application site and serve 
primary habitable rooms (kitchen, bedroom etc.).  The Applicant has provided greater 
clarification regarding the internal arrangement of these properties, and confirmed that at 
ground floor, the facing windows serve the kitchens of these properties.  These rooms are 
served by three windows: two at the side (facing towards the site) and one to the front 
elevation.  At first floor, the side facing windows both serve a single bedroom.  

With regards to the host dwellinghouse, the proposal would be sited a minimum of 6.5 metres 
from these windows.  Given that this dwelling is occupied by the Applicant, they have already 
accepted the level of separation and consider that it would not be overbearing to their primary 

6

68



habitable rooms.  Some loss of natural daylight would result in the mornings given the 
orientation however this is considered to be acceptable in light of the ownership arrangements.  

In terms of the separation distance to No.16 Walton Road, this would be a minimum of 5.5 
metres and it is noted that the occupant of this neighbouring property has objected to the 
proposal on the basis of loss of views from their kitchen window and replacement with a large 
brick wall.  The previous scheme, which was refused by Members, had a separation distance 
of some 5 metres, and therefore this current proposal has resulted in only a slightly improved 
relationship.  In light of the significant concerns raised during debate of the previous scheme 
(the minutes for this Committee are attached at Appendix A of this report), it is not considered 
that this increased separation distance improves the situation sufficiently.  The limited 
separation distance between the proposal and primary habitable windows of No.16 Walton 
Road, and the scale and design of the proposal is such that it would appear an unduly 
dominant and obtrusive feature, resulting in an unacceptably overbearing impact to 
neighbouring occupants.  With regards to overshadowing impact, this was not a previous 
factor in the refusal of the earlier scheme and it is not considered that the revised proposal 
would alter this view. 

On the basis of the above, it is considered that the proposal would result in an unacceptable 
level of impact to the amenities of neighbouring occupants.  The proposal is therefore contrary 
to Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

d) Access, parking and highway implications
The Local Highway Authority (LHA) has raised no objections with regards to the proposal.  The 
revised access arrangement would provide a safe vehicular and pedestrian access to serve 
both the existing and proposed dwellings, with adequate car parking to meet adopted 
standards and serve the needs of both dwellings without creating additional demand on the 
public highway.  It is noted that concern has been expressed from local residents with regards 
to danger caused by intensification of the vehicular access in close proximity to the highway 
junction.  Whilst this is noted, the proposal would not create a significant intensification and the 
access design meets with required standards in terms of safety and visibility.  Whilst vehicles 
associated with the existing dwelling would reverse out onto the highway, this is not an 
alteration from the present situation and does not need to be addressed.  With regards to the 
proposed dwelling, adequate turning is provided within the curtilage of the site to ensure that 
vehicles can enter, turn and exit the site in a forward gear.  

The LHA has requested that 2 metre x 2 metre vehicle-to-pedestrian visibility splays be 
provided at either side of the improved access. Whilst these are achievable, the submitted 
drawings do not show them and accordingly, the LHA has requested revised drawings.  
However, as these splays are achievable, their provision could instead be secured through an 
appropriately worded condition.  

On the basis of the above, the proposal would provide adequate on-site car parking and would 
not result in any unacceptable impact to the safety of the public highway network.  Therefore, 
the proposal is in accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

e) Tree implications
As set out in Section 1 above, there is mature Sycamore tree situated to the front of the 
application site, owned by the City Council.  The application has been accompanied by a 
Arboricultural Implications Assessment and Arboricultural Method Statement which estimated 
that there will be a 24% incursion into the Root Protection Area of this tree as a result of the 
proposed development (most notably the amended access and driveway).  The City Council's 
Tree Officer is broadly in agreement with the conclusions of the report however some 
additional specifications have been requested.  Whilst this is noted, the measures accord with 
BS5837:2012, and this is considered acceptable without the need for further information.  

7

69



On the basis of the above, the proposal would not result in any unacceptable impact upon 
landscape features of visual amenity importance and is therefore in accordance with Policy 
PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

f) Archaeology
The application site is located within the historic core of the medieval settlement however the 
City Council's Archaeologist has advised that there is no need to secure a programme of 
archaeological evaluation.  It is considered that the footprint of the proposal is modest and 
that, given the presence of the existing garage, truncation and damage is already likely to 
have resulted to any potential buried remains.  Accordingly, the proposal would not pose an 
unacceptable risk to undiscovered heritage assets and is therefore in accordance with 
paragraph 128 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS17 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP17 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).  

g) Developer contributions
In accordance with the Peterborough City Council Developer Contributions SPD (2015), the 
proposed development is liable for a financial contribution towards the infrastructure demands 
it generates by virtue of the City Council's Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  The level of 
CIL payable by the Developer is determined on the basis of the floor area to be created, and 
the charging zone within which the application site falls.  This will only be calculated by the 
City Council's Planning Obligations Team in the event that planning permission is issued.  

h) Other matters

Impact on existing sewers within the site
It is noted that concern has been raised with regards to the impact upon an existing sewer 
which runs through the application site.  The Applicant would be required to seek approval 
from the water authority to re-route this sewer if needed but this does not form a material 
consideration for the determination of the application.

6 Conclusions

The proposal is unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations, 
including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reason 
given below.

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is REFUSED for 
the following reason:

 
R 1 The proposed dwelling, by virtue of its size, siting and relation to the plot boundaries, would 

result in an significantly overbearing impact to and harm the outlook from primary habitable 
rooms of the neighbouring dwelling No.16 Walton Road.  The proposal would therefore 
result in an unacceptable level of harm to the amenities of occupants of this neighbouring 
dwelling, which is contrary to Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) 
and Policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

Copy to Councillors Lamb D and Holdich MBE J

8

70



AB
    MINUTES OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH ON 3 MARCH 2015

Members Present: Councillors Harper (Chair), Serluca (Vice-Chair) Casey, Hiller, North, 
Stokes, Martin, Sylvester, Ash and Harrington

Officers Present:  Lee Collins, Development Management Manager
Vicky Hurrell, Principal Development Management Officer
Bryan Clary, Tree Officer (Item 5.4)
Theresa Nicholl, Development Manager (Item 5.5)
Simon Ireland, Principal Engineer (Highway Control)
Ruth Lea, Planning and Highways Lawyer
Pippa Turvey, Senior Democratic Services Officer

1. Apologies for Absence

No apologies for absence were received.

The Chairman advised that an urgent report had been submitted to the Committee. This 
report would be heard after agenda item 5.4 ‘14/02145/FUL – 17 Castor Road, Marholm, 
Peterborough, PE6 7JA’.

2. Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest.

3.    Members’ Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward Councillor

There were no declarations of intention to make representations as Ward Councillor.

4. Minutes of the Meetings held on:

4.1 20 January 2015

The minutes of the meeting held on 20 January 2015 were approved as a correct record.

4.2 3 February 2015

The minutes of the meeting held on 3 February 2015 were approved as a correct record.

5.    Development Control and Enforcement Matters

5.1 14/01781/FUL and 14/02078/FUL – Guthrie House, Rightwell, East Bretton, 
Peterborough

The planning applications were for and extension at Guthrie House, Rightwell, East 
Bretton, Peterborough to create 13 new flats (14/01791/FUL) and the alterations to 
elevations of existing two story blocks of flats at Guthrie House, Rightwell, East Bretton, 
Peterborough, and the creation of a lobby (14/02078/FUL).

The main considerations set out in the reports were:
 Principle of development
 Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area

APPENDIX A

71



 Landscape implications
 Parking, access and highway implications
 Neighbour amenity
 Amenity provision for future occupants
 Developer contributions
 Environment Capital
 The impact of the proposal on the character of the area
 The impact of the proposal on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring 

dwellings

It was officer’s recommendation that planning permissions be granted subject to, in 
relation to application 14/01791/FUL, the signing of a legal agreement, and the 
conditions set out in the respective reports.

The Principal Development Management Officer provided an overview of the 
applications and raised the following key points:

 The existing blocks were undergoing conversion to residential flats under the 
Prior Approval process.

 The proposals were not considered to have an adverse impact on the character 
of the streetscene, even though the proposed materials would be slightly different 
from those used in the existing buildings.

 It was in line with Council policy to encourage residential development within 
district centres, as sustainable locations.

 Concern had been raised in relation to the size of the proposal. It was considered 
by officers that the proposal fitted in with the other buildings in the locality and 
sufficient separation distances would be in place.

 16 category A and B trees were to be removed within the development. It was 
considered that as a gap in the tree cover already existing and there was 
sufficient number of trees in the surrounding area the landscaping of the proposal 
was acceptable.

 The car parking provided in the proposal adhered to Council policy. It was 
believed that as the site was within a district centre, in a sustainable location and 
with parking available nearby in public car parks, visitor parking was not required. 

 Objections had been raised in relation to expected increases in traffic from the 
site. It was considered that the proposal would not present an unacceptable 
increase in traffic given the original office use.

 A pedestrian crossing existed further along the road from the development site. 
As such, no additional crossing point was believed to be necessary.

Councillor David Neville, Bretton Parish Councillor, and Councillor Herdman, Ward 
Councillor, addressed the Committee and responded to questions from Members. In 
summary the key points highlighted included:

 It was suggested that the height and position of the proposal failed to respect the 
established character of the area. 

 The loss of trees would cause the development to be unduly dominant.
 Pedestrian crossing on the road was already thought to be difficult and 

dangerous. It was believed that the development would exacerbate this. 
 Any residential development should be within the existing building block. Any 

extension was not necessary. 
 The development would front onto the footpath and have a significant impact on 

its users.
 It was suggested that objection had not been raised by many residents of the 

area as the full impact of the proposal was not appreciated.
 Several car parks were available for short term use in the area, however these 

were over 200 yards away from the development site.
 Concern was raised about the safety of the area during the day, if no residents 

APPENDIX A

72



were at home.

Mr Andrew Winterton, Bretton Green Ltd, addressed the Committee in support of the 
application and responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points 
highlighted included:

 The building had been empty for several years. 
 The development site was in a sustainable location, close to public transport and 

lightly used roads.
 There was a demand for residential housing nationally and locally.
 Safety was not believed to be an issue within the proposal.
 The car parking proposals adhered to Council policy, it was believed that the site 

would attract less vehicle movements than its previous use. It was considered 
that sufficient pedestrian crossing points were already in place.

 The trees on the opposite site of the access would be left, as would the trees on 
the embankment. It was believed that this would maintain the woodland feel of 
the area.

 The applicant had agreed to make all the relevant Section 106 Agreement 
contributions.

 It was felt that the proposal was in keeping with the surrounding area and not 
overbearing. Many of the surrounding buildings of a similar size to the proposed 
development.

 A waste management plan could be conditioned. It was the preference of the 
applicant to develop and above ground scheme.

The Committee believed that the building was of an acceptable design and that it fit in 
well with the character of the surrounding area. It was noted that there was little 
objection from surrounding residents.

In response to questions the Principal Development Management Officer advised that 
proposed condition 11 required the submission and approval of bin details, albeit that 
underground bins couldn’t be insisted upon. The development provided one parking 
space for each one bedroom flat which accorded with policy.

Concerns were raised relating to the proposed parking arrangements and the Principal 
Engineer (Highway Control) clarified that as the development was situated near a district 
centre, this was considered sufficient for any visitor parking.

14/01791/FUL

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per 
officer recommendation. The motion was carried nine voting in favour and one 
abstaining from voting.

RESOLVED: (nine in favour, one abstained from voting) that planning permission is 
GRANTED subject to the signing of a LEGAL AGREEMENT and the conditions set out 
in the report.

Reasons for the decision

Subject to the imposition of the conditions set out in the report, the proposal was 
acceptable having been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including 
weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and specifically:
- the application site was located within the Bretton District Centre and the surrounding 

area of Bretton Green was currently undergoing conversion to residential units 
accordingly. The proposal would represent further residential development within the 
District Centre which was considered acceptable in principle, in accordance with 
paragraph 23 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) and Policy CS2 of 

APPENDIX A

73



the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011);
- the proposal would not result in any unacceptable impact upon the character, 

appearance or visual amenity of the surrounding area, in accordance with Police 
CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP2 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

- it was considered that on balance, any harm resulting from the loss of trees and 
landscape features within the application site was outweighed by the benefit arising 
from additional residential units within the District Centre;

- there was adequate space within the curtilage of the site to provide sufficient parking 
to meet the needs of the development and no unacceptable impact to the public 
highway network shall result, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012);

- the proposal would not result in any unacceptable impact of neighbouring occupants, 
in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and 
Policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies PDP (2012);

- on balance, the proposal would provide an acceptable level of amenity for further 
occupants, in accordance with Policy PP4 of the Peterborough Planning Policies 
(2012); and

- a financial contribution could be secured to meet the infrastructure needs arising from 
the proposed development, in accordance with Policies CS12 and CS13 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and the Peterborough Planning Obligations 
Implementation Scheme SPD (2010).

14/02078/FUL

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per 
officer recommendation. The motion was carried nine voting in favour and one 
abstaining from voting.

RESOLVED: (nine in favour, one abstained from voting) that planning permission is 
GRANTED subject to the conditions set out in the report.

Reasons for the decision

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal was acceptable having 
been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against 
relevant policies of the development plan and specifically:
- The proposal would not unacceptably harm the character of the area or the amenity 

of the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings; in accordance with policy CS16 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy (DPD) 2011 and policies PP2 and PP3 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies (DPD) 2012.

5.2 14/02126/OUT – Rear of 39 Station Road, Thorney, Peterborough

Councillor Serluca left the meeting.

The planning application was for the erection of up to nine dwellings at the rear of 38 
Station Road, Thorney, Peterborough.

The main considerations set out in the report were:
 Principle of development, including flood risk
 Density and layout
 Access and highway implications
 Impact upon the setting of heritage assets and archaeology
 Neighbour amenity
 Amenity provision for future occupants

APPENDIX A

74



 Tree and landscape implications
 Drainage 
 Developer contributions

It was officer’s recommendation that planning permission be refused for the reasons set 
out in the report.

The Development Management Manager provided an overview of the application and 
raised the following key points:

 The existing vehicular access to the site was proposed to be maintained, which 
was bounded by properties owned by the applicant.

 The land to the north of the application site had been granted outline permission 
for residential dwellings.

 The application site was designated as flood zone 3A, which was the highest risk 
level. As residential housing was classed as ‘vulnerable’ use, the sequential test 
had to be applied. The results of the test undertaken by the agent deemed the 
location to pass this test. Officers had undertaken their own sequential test, 
taking into account a wider range of sites, including those that had been 
previously rejected by the Council in the allocation process. Following this, the 
application was considered to fail the sequential test.

 It was considered that up to nine dwellings could be constructed on the site, 
which would fit in with the surrounding area and have no detrimental impact.

 No objections had been raised from the North Level Internal Drainage Board 
(NLIDB), the Environmental Agency (EA), or the Highway Authority.

 Conditions had been recommended by the by Tree Officers and the Drainage 
Team.

 Included in the update report was a letter from the applicant’s agent, disputing 
the interpretation by officers of the sequential test. Also included was submission 
of support for the application from Ward Councillor Sanders.

Councillor Brown, Ward Councillor, addressed the Committee and responded to 
questions from Members. In summary the key points highlighted included:

 The Councillor agreed with the comments expressed in the report by the Parish 
Council and supported the application.

 Significant investment had been made into the flood barriers at Thorney. It was 
considered unlikely that the site would flood.

 The land adjacent to the proposal site had been approved by the Committee for 
development. The same flood risks applied to that land as to the application site.

 The site had never been known to flood.

Mr John Dickie, John Dickie Associates, addressed the Committee in support of the 
application and responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points 
highlighted included:

 On all other matters the proposal was considered acceptable. The only reason 
given to refuse the application was flooding.

 No objections had been raised by internal or external consultees. 
 A flood risk assessment had been undertaken and approved by the EA and the 

NLIDB.
 Appropriate measures could be put in place to mitigate the risk of flooding, which 

would only be presented by River Welland, or significant rainfall.
 There was confusion over how to correctly apply the sequential test. It was 

suggested that the criteria applied for different applications varied hugely. Mr 
Dickie was confident that this application passed the sequential test.

 The development had attracted significant local support.
 It was the intention of the applicant to leave the trees at the periphery and the 

front of the site. The large collection of trees beyond the plot would remain.

APPENDIX A

75



 The number of dwellings had been considered appropriate and it was not 
believed that the proposal would take away the amenity from the existing 
properties to the front of the site.

Councillor Hiller declared that he was a member of the NLIDB, though he had not been 
involved in any previous discussion in relation to this application.

The Committee considered the recommendation from officers and the local knowledge 
presented by the speakers. The Committee took note of the limited history of flooding on 
the site and the various preventative barriers that were now in place to avoid such 
issues. It was considered that, on balance, the application was acceptable.

The Development Management Manager advised that officers would meet with the agent 
to discuss the scope of the sequential test in relation to any future applications.

 
The Development Management Manager further set out various conditions that would be 
appropriate, if the Committee were minded to approve the application. These included 
conditions relating to a noise assessment, access arrangements, tree protection, 
archaeology, materials and a flood risk assessment.

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, contrary to 
officer recommendation, subject to relevant conditions as set out by officers. The motion 
was carried seven voting in favour, and two voting against.

RESOLVED: (seven voted in favour, two voted against) that planning permission is 
GRANTED subject to the following conditions:

C 1 Approval of details of the access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale 
(hereinafter called 'the reserved matters') shall be obtained from the Local 
Planning Authority in writing before any development is commenced.

Reason: To ensure that the development meets the policy standards required by 
the development plan and any other material considerations including national 
and local policy guidance.

C 2 Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in condition 1 above, 
relating to the access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale shall be 
submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority and shall be carried out as 
approved.

Reason: To ensure that the development meets the policy standards required by 
the development plan and any other material considerations including national 
and local policy guidance.

C 3 Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission.

Reason: In accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

C 4 The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of 
five years from the date of this permission or before the expiration of two years 
from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, 
whichever is the later.

APPENDIX A

76



Reason: In accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).

C 5 The plans and particulars submitted under Condition 2 above shall include a 
noise assessment (based upon background noise levels) and scheme of noise 
mitigation (if required) based upon the submitted assessment and the details of 
the proposal.  Any scheme of noise mitigation that is approved shall be carried 
out prior to first occupation of any dwelling.  

Reason:  To ensure an acceptable level of amenity is afforded to future 
occupants, in accordance with Policy PP4 of the Peterborough Planning Policies 
DPD (2012).

C 6 The plans and particulars submitted under Condition 2 above shall include full 
details of the proposed Sustainable Drainage Scheme which shall itself include 
full calculations and the results of any necessary investigations including an 
assessment of ground conditions. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Sustainable Drainage Scheme.  

Reason:  To ensure that the development does not result in increased flood risk 
elsewhere, in accordance with Policy CS22 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011).

C 7 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
submitted document 'Flood Risk Assessment for Residential Development at 
Station Road, Thorney, Peterborough' (dated November 2014) and the following 
specific mitigation measures detailed therein:

a) Finished floor levels shall be set no lower than 1.0 metre above Ordnance 
Datum (AOD);
b) The dwellings and any ancillary buildings shall include flood resilient/ resistant 
techniques; and
c) Future occupants of the dwellings shall be advised to sign up to flood warnings 
direct.

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to first occupation of 
each dwellinghouse to which they relate.  

Reason:  To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants, in accordance with Policy CS22 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011).  

C 8 The plans and particulars relating to access submitted under Condition 2 above 
shall include the following:

a) Vehicle-to-pedestrian visibility splays measuring 2 metres x 2 metres on either 
side of the access;
b) Vehicle-to-vehicle visibility splays measuring 2.4 metres by 47 metres on either 
side of the access; 
c) An access driveway of no less than 5.5 metres in width; and
d) Tracking diagrams to demonstrate that a refuse collection vehicle can turn 
within the site in order to enter and leave the site in a forward gear.

The approved access shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details and prior to the commencement of development.  Thereafter, the access 
shall be retained as for the purposes of the access and manoeuvring of vehicles 

APPENDIX A

77



in connection with the development.  The visibility splays shall be maintained 
clear of any obstruction above a height of 600mm in perpetuity. 

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of 
the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

C 9 No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
Construction Management Plan shall include (but not be limited to):

a) hours of construction;
b) routes for all vehicles delivering materials to the site;
c) materials storage within the site;
d) the parking of all contractors vehicles clear of the public highway;
e) wheel washing facilities for all vehicles exiting the site; and
f) measures to control the emission of dust from the site.

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of neighbouring 
occupants, in accordance with Policies CS14 and CS16 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP3 and PP12 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

C10 The plans and particulars submitted under Condition 2 above shall include a 
scheme for the landscaping of the site . The scheme shall include the following 
details: 

a) Proposed finished ground and building slab levels;
b) Planting plans including retained trees, species, numbers, size and density of 
planting; and
c) Boundary treatments and areas of hard surfacing.

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  The 
boundary treatments and hard surfacing shall be provided prior to first occupation 
of the dwelling to which they relate and the planting shall be carried out no later 
than the first planting season following completion of the development.  

Any trees, shrubs or hedges forming part of the approved landscaping scheme 
(except those contained in enclosed rear gardens to individual dwellings) that die, 
are removed or become diseased within five years of the implementation of the 
landscaping scheme shall be replaced during the next available planting season 
by the developers, or their successors in title with an equivalent size, number and 
species to those being replaced. Any replacement trees, shrubs or hedgerows 
dying within five years of planting shall themselves be replaced with an 
equivalent size, number and species. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the development and the 
enhancement of biodiversity, in accordance with Policies CS16 and CS21 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP2 and PP16 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

C11 The plans and particulars submitted under Condition 2 above shall include a 
concise Site Specific Method Statement and/or Finalised Tree Protection Plan to 
BS5837:2012 Trees in relation to design demolition and construction - 

APPENDIX A

78



Recommendations methodology.  The Statement and/or Plan shall identify (but 
not exclusively) the following:

- Trees to be retained and those to be removed clearly identified;
- Location and specification of protective tree measures in addition to appropriate 
ground protection (creating construction corridors where appropriate) within the 
Root Protection Areas of all retained trees within the application site;
- Details of all Root Protection Area infringement during the construction and 
landscaping phases with details on how the impact will be reduced;
- Details of facilitation pruning;
- Location of accesses, material storage, site office, mixing of cement, welfare 
facilities etc;
- Specification of landscaping prescriptions (including fencing/walls and changes 
in soil level) within the Root Protection Area of retained trees.

The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
and/or plans and the tree protection shall be erected according to the 
specification and locations shown on the agreed Finalised Tree Protection Plan. 
Signs will be placed on the tree protection emphasising that it is not to be moved, 
nor the area entered into until the end of development without written permission 
from the Local Planning Authority's Tree Officer. 

Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenities of the area, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and 
Policies PP2 and PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

C12 No development shall take place until a programme of archaeological work, 
including a Written Scheme of Investigation, has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved scheme shall be 
implemented in full (including any post development requirements e.g. archiving 
and submission of final reports) prior to the commencement of any development.  

Reason: To secure the obligation on the planning applicant or developer to 
mitigate the impact of their scheme on the historic environment when 
preservation in situ is not possible, in accordance with paragraphs 128 and 141 
of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS17 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP17 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).

C13 No development shall take place until details of the following materials have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

- Walling and roofing materials (samples to be provided);
- Windows and doors including garage doors;
- Rainwater goods;
- Canopies, brise-soleil etc (if necessary); and
- Any externally visible sustainable technologies, vents, flues etc.

The details submitted for approval shall include the name of the manufacturer, 
the product type, colour (using BS4800) and reference number. The development 
shall not be carried out except in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external 
appearance, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011) and Policy PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

APPENDIX A

79



C14 The development hereby approved shall be constructed so that it achieves at 
least a 10% improvement on the Target Emission Rates set by the Building 
Regulations at the time of Building Regulations being approved for the 
development.

Reason: To accord with Policy CS10 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011).

C15 If, during development, contamination not previously considered is identified, then 
the Local Planning Authority shall be notified immediately and no further work 
shall be carried out until a method statement detailing a scheme for dealing with 
the suspect contamination has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority.  The development shall thereafter not be carried out 
except in complete accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason: To ensure all contamination within the site is dealt with in accordance 
with the National Planning Policy Framework, in particular paragraphs 120 and 
121 and Policy PP20 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

C16 The combined gross floor space of the development hereby permitted shall not 
exceed 1,000 square metres.

Reason: To ensure that the development accordance with the National Online 
Planning Guidance in respect of small-scale residential developments and their 
associated financial contributions towards infrastructure demands.

Reasons for the decision

The proposed outline development was considered acceptable in all matters, with the 
exception of the flood risks present at the site. It was considered that, on balance, the 
risk of flooding was not significant and the proposal was acceptable. 

5.3 14/02145/FUL – 17 Castor Road, Marholm, Peterborough, PE6 7JA

The planning application was for a proposed three bedroom detached dwelling with 
associated driveway at 17 Castor Road, Marholm, Peterborough, PE6 7JA.

The main considerations set out in the report were:
 Principle of residential development
 Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area 

and heritage assets
 Neighbour amenity
 Access, parking and highway implications
 Tree implications
 Archaeology
 Development contributions

It was officer’s recommendation that planning permission be granted subject to the 
conditions set out in the report.

The Development Management Manager provided an overview of the application and 
raised the following key points:

 The development site was located in a prominent position on the edge of a 
conservation area. 

 The proposed dwelling would be in the same building line as the existing 
dwellings.

 The proposal would be set at an angle away from the neighbouring property on 

APPENDIX A

80



Walton Road and would share the existing vehicular access with the host 
property.

 The neighbouring property on Walton Road would be 5 metres away, with a 1.2 
metre boundary fence. The residents of neighbouring property had objected on 
the grounds that they would lose the use of their kitchen window.

 The host property would be 5.4 metres away and would lose some natural light 
during the morning time.

 Officers considered that the design of the proposal would positively enhance the 
immediate environment and fill an existing gap.

 It was considered that the proposed dwelling’s siting within the plot would provide 
sufficient space and avoid any overbearing impact.

 It was not considered that an increase of one dwelling would cause a significant 
intensification of use of the proposed access point.

The Committee generally approved of the design and access to the proposal. However, 
the Committee expressed concern regarding the impact the proposal would have on the 
neighbouring property on Walton Road. It was considered that the impact would be 
significant and that any privacy afforded to the property would be lost. The Committee 
believed the level of impact to be unacceptable.

 
A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, contrary to 
officer recommendation, for the reasons of overbearing impact and loss of privacy. The 
motion was carried unanimously.

RESOLVED: (unanimous) that planning permission is REFUSED for the reasons set out 
below.

Reasons for the decision

The proposal was considered to have an overbearing impact and resulted in the loss of 
privacy of neighbouring properties. As such, the proposal was in contravention of policy 
CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy (DPD) 2011 and policy PP3 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies (DPD) 2012.

5.4 15/00200/CTR – 333 Thorpe Road, Peterborough, PE3 6LU

Councillor Serluca re-joined the meeting.

The Committee received an urgent report which outlined an application for a notice 
pursuant to Section 211 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 for works to a tree 
in a conservation area. The work proposed was to reduce the branches of a holly tree at 
333 Thorpe Road, Peterborough to provide 0.5 metres clearance on a property. 

Section 211 provided that the work would be deemed as authorised and work may be 
carried out after the expiry of six weeks from the date of the notice, if no decision was 
made by the Local Planning Authority. The period of six weeks from the submission of 
the notice would come to an end prior to the next meeting of the Committee. Therefore, 
the matter required consideration by the Committee as an urgent item.

It was officer’s recommendation that no objections be raised to the application. The Tree 
Officer provided an overview of the application and raised the following key points:

 The application related to minor pruning of a holly tree within a conservation 
area. 

 The tree in question was next to the property window and almost reached the 
guttering. 

 The tree was not considered to be worthy of a Tree Protection Order.

APPENDIX A

81



A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that no objections be raised, as per 
officer recommendation. The motion was carried unanimously.

RESOLVED: (unanimous) that no objections are raised to the application.

Reasons for the decision

The proposal was in accordance with sound arboricultural practice.

5.5 East Coast Main Line Level Crossing Closure

The Committee received a report which set out the proposals of Network Rail to close a 
number of level crossings on the East Coast Main Line (ECML) between London and 
Doncaster as part of a programme to make the line more efficient and reliable. The 
report sought the Committee’s views on the comments made in relation to each proposal 
and any further comments the Committee wished to make. Planning permission would 
not be required from Peterborough City Council and, as such, the Council would not be 
the determining authority. The Council would be a consultee, alongside other 
organisations such as English Heritage and the Environmental Agency. 

Within Peterborough, the closure of the following level crossings was proposed;
 Woodcroft (Woodcroft Road to the southeast of Helpston)
 Helpston (Glinton Road, Helpston)
 Maxey (Maxey Road, Helpston)
 Lolham Bridges and Helpston Footpath (north of B1443 and NE of Bainton)

It was officer’s recommendation that Committee note the contents of the report and offer 
any additional comments it would like to make to Network Rail at this stage.

The Development Manager provided an overview of the report and outlined the 
comments that officers were able to make at the current time. 

The Chairman invited representatives of Network Rail to respond to questions from the 
Committee. In summary the key points highlighted included:

 National Rail had tried to engage with as many groups as possible in their 
consultation process. This included cycle forums and walking groups.

 Consultation was still on going.
 The review was not driven by an increase in line speed. The alterations set out in 

the consultation would be able to facilitate increased speed, however such a 
proposal would require its own consultation process.

 Traffic modelling was currently being undertaken. It was suggested that 
mitigation measures may be required to ensure that traffic is diverted away from 
villages. 

 More information would be provided in due course.

The Committee commented that traffic modelling would be vital to ensure that any 
diverted traffic would not cause congestion in the surrounding villages. It was suggested 
that consideration should be given to the access Lolham Bridges, to ensure that the site 
did not become a ‘dumping ground’.

 
RESOLVED that the contents of the report and comments of the Committee are noted.

Chairman
1.30pm – 3:40pm

APPENDIX A

82



83



This page is intentionally left blank

84



Planning and EP Committee 7 July 2015 Item number 5

Application Ref: 14/02222/FUL 

Proposal: Development of a miniature railway and ancillary infrastructure

Site: The Hostel Site, London Road, Yaxley, PE7 3NQ
Applicant: O And H Hampton Ltd

Agent: Mr R Cannell
Peterborough Society of Model Engineers Ltd

Referred by: Director of Growth and Regeneration
Reason: To allow full consideration by the Planning and Environmental Protection 

Committee. 

Site visit: 12.06.2015

Case officer: Mr M A Thomson
Telephone No. 01733 453478
E-Mail: matt.thomson@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: REFUSE  
  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site Description
The application site area is 2ha and forms part of a wider 7.5ha parcel of land. It is understood that 
the site has historically been used by the London Brick Company and previous to that an army 
training barracks and prisoner of war camp. The site is situated within the Great Haddon Urban 
Extension area (CS5 & SA1) and is illustrated as an area of woodland/public open space as part of 
a proposed 2009 masterplan (see history section for further information). The site is accessed from 
London Road, a classified road situated within Huntingdonshire District Council. Along the eastern 
boundary are residential properties with open countryside to the south, west and north. 

Proposal
The Applicant seeks consent to create a site for a miniature railway. The Applicants are group of 
enthusiasts, the Peterborough Society of Model Engineers, who were previously sited at Thorpe 
Hall, Peterborough. 

The development would include;

 The laying of 1,800 feet of track, 3,000 feet of ground level track and 300 feet of long gauge 
track capable of accommodating a variety of scale locomotives;

 Steaming bays, used to prepare the locomotives;
 An area to accommodate steam road vehicles;
 A station ticket and refreshment kiosk;
 A clubhouse with w/c (11m x 8m);
 A site container for storage; 
 Car parking for 50 vehicles; and
 Fencing. 

Once operational it is understood that the site would be open to members year round with bi-
monthly meetings within the club house and access to members of the public on Sundays (13:00-
18:00) between Easter and September. It is understood that the site would be available to hire for 

1

85



children's parties as well as open to school visits. 

2 Planning History

09/01368/OUT - Development of an urban extension comprising up to 5350 residential dwellings, a 
district centre (with up to 9200 square metres (99031 sq.ft) retail floor space) and two 
neighbourhood centres (with up to 2300 square metres (24758 sq.ft) retail floor space) comprising 
district/neighbourhood retail (A1-A5), community and health (C2, D1), leisure (D2), residential (C3) 
and commercial (B1) uses. Provision for education facilities (sites for three primary and one 
secondary school), sports and recreational facilities, a range of strategic open spaces including 
new landscaping, woodland and allotments, and cemetery provision.  Associated highway 
infrastructure (including pedestrian, bridleway and cycle routes), public transport infrastructure and 
car parking for all uses.  Utilities and renewable energy infrastructure; foul and surface water 
drainage networks (including SuDS and lakes)

This application has been recommended for approval by planning committee subject to the signing 
of a Section 106 legal agreement. The masterplan forms part of the committee approval and as 
such is a material consideration. 

In 2005 planning permission was refused by Huntingdonshire District Council (HDC) for the 
demolition of No. 9 Folly Close and the erection of 4 dwellings; the site is adjacent to the proposed 
miniature railway site. This application was refused and dismissed by the Planning inspectorate as 
the development would result in a substantial increase in traffic movements along it, which would 
cause material harm to the living conditions and quiet enjoyment of the occupiers of No.8 Folly 
Close and No.33 London Road. This is a material consideration; the appeal decision is discussed 
further below and a copy of the appeal has been attached as Appendix A. 

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS01 - Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside 
The location/ scale of new development should accord with the settlement hierarchy. Development 
in the countryside will be permitted only where key criteria are met.

CS05 - Urban Extensions 
Promotes development at Hampton, Stanground South and Paston Reserve and new urban 
extensions at Great Haddon and Norwood subject to key criteria being met.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

CS17 - The Historic Environment 
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including non-
scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.

CS18 - Culture, Leisure and Tourism 
Development of new cultural, leisure and tourism facilities will be encouraged particularly in the city 
centre.

Peterborough Site Allocations DPD (2012)

2

86



SA01 - Urban Extensions 
Confirms the location of the urban extensions in accordance with Core Strategy policy CS5 and 
any planning permissions in place at the time of adoption.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP01 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Applications which accord with policies in the Local Plan and other Development Plan Documents 
will be approved unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where there are no relevant 
policies, the Council will grant permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP04 - Amenity Provision in New Residential Development 
Proposals for new residential development should be designed and located to ensure that they 
provide for the needs of the future residents.

PP08A - (a) Tourism, Leisure and Cultural Uses in Villages/the Open Countryside 
Permission will be granted for development of an appropriate scale; which would support the local 
community; is compatible with the surrounding character / would not harm the open countryside; is 
easily accessible; and is supported by a robust business plan.

PP09 - Development for Retail and Leisure Uses 
A sequential approach will be applied to retail and leisure development. Retail development 
outside Primary Shopping Areas or leisure development outside any centre will be refused unless 
the requirements of Policy CS15 of the Core Strategy have been satisfied or compliance with the 
sequential approach has been demonstrated.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

PP16 - The Landscaping and Biodiversity Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes provision for the retention of trees 
and natural features which contribute significantly to the local landscape or biodiversity.

PP17 - Heritage Assets 
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the 
significance of the asset or its setting.  Development which would have detrimental impact will be 
refused unless there are overriding public benefits.

PP20 - Development on Land affected by Contamination 
Development must take into account the potential environmental impacts arising from the 
development itself and any former use of the site.  If it cannot be established that the site can be 

3

87



safely developed with no significant future impacts on users or ground/surface waters, permission 
will be refused.

4 Consultations/Representations

Yaxley Parish Council (11.03.15)
Object - The Parish Council object to the proposal, raising concerns of road safety and loss of a 
separation buffer between Yaxley and Peterborough.

Cambridgeshire County Council Highways (18.02.15)
No objection - The access proposed to serve the Miniature railway site is served from London 
Road. The proposed access comprises a width in excess of 5m wide, with radius kerbing and 
vehicle to vehicle visibility in excess of that required for the posted 30 mph speed limit. The access 
is suitable to cater for both the modest amount of construction traffic that is proposed and the traffic 
likely to be generated by visitors to the attraction.

PCC Wildlife Officer (11.02.15)
Comments - The site is likely to either host or provide foraging areas for a number of protected 
species, including reptiles, great crested newts, nesting birds, hedgehogs, badgers and bats. 
Whilst the proposal is not considered to have an impact on the identified great crested newt 
breeding pond, the submitted Woodland Management Strategy is required to be revised in line with 
Wildlife Officer concerns. There is also information outstanding with respect to bats.

The Wildlife Trusts (Cambridgeshire) 
No comments received.

Peterborough Local Access Forum 
No comments received.

PCC Rights of Way Officer 
No comments received.

The Open Spaces Society 
No comments received.

Ramblers (Central Office) (02.02.15)
No objection.

PCC Tree Officer (06.03.15)
Comments – The Tree Officer has orally confirmed that there is information outstanding explaining 
how the track would be laid out on site, whether the way leave would be sufficient and how the 
areas around the track would be maintained over the 20 year phased period. Whilst individual trees 
have been identified as having good health, it is the groups of trees that benefit landscape views. 

Huntingdon District Council (17.02.15)
Comments - No concerns with respect to visual impact as the site is well screened. Concerns 
regarding properties along London Road with regard to traffic and noise implications. Highways 
concerns with additional traffic accessing and egressing the site along a busy road.

PCC Conservation Officer (05.03.15)
No objection - The site has heritage value and significance, being part of a former World War 2 
prisoner of war camp and military operations camp. Development of the land would have an impact 
on the historic asset in so far as there would be new structures and features for the new use.  The 
harm to the heritage asset would be ‘less than substantial’; much of the heritage significance of the 
site is recorded in documentary records. The larger part of the former camp, outside the proposed 
site, would remain unaltered.  Should there be a recommendation to approve then it would be 
justified to include a condition requiring the provision of an interpretation board or similar site based 

4

88



information to explain the heritage interest of the site.  

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (12.02.15)
No objection.

PCC Pollution Team (07.04.15)
No objection – recommends conditions be attached with respect to uncovering unknown 
contamination and securing a noise assessment by way of condition. 

Archaeological Officer (09.03.15)
No objection – All structures have been removed but footprints may survive. In light of this 
archaeological monitoring and evaluation should be undertaken. 

Lead Local Drainage Authority (09.02.15)
No objection - subject to drainage details being secured by way of condition.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

20 letters of representation have been received. 17 letters have been received from neighbouring 
properties, two additional objections from Cllr Butler (Yaxley and Farcet) and Yaxley Parish Council 
as well as comments from the Local MP Mr. Vara. The letters of letters of objection raise the 
following concerns; 

 Application site is shown to be woodland under the Greater Haddon development, a buffer 
zone to Peterborough; 

 Land designated as woodland/nature reserve; 
 Access and parking;
 Highway and Pedestrian Safety;
 Folly Close is a private road;
 Traffic counts on London Road have identified 1,200 vehicle movements per hour;
 Noise; 
 Hours of operation;
 Loss of privacy;
 Crime & security;
 Greenfield site, not a brownfield site; 
 Protected species and wildlife; 
 Loss of trees;
 D2 leisure use; 
 Land should be left to remain as it is a memorial to the men who went to war never to return; 
 Planning history of refusals; and
 Litter

5 Assessment of the planning issues

1) Principle of Development
Policies PP08A and CS18 seek to support leisure uses that would support the local community, 
providing that it is compatible with the surrounding character and is easily accessible. The 
development would serve a group of enthusiasts and whilst it would occupy a large area it would 
be commensurate in size with the nature of the intended use. However, the application site forms 
part of a wider strategic allocation for the Great Haddon urban extension, identified as such under 
Policy CS5 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and SA1 of the Peterborough Site 
Allocations DPD (2012). These policies seek to ensure that the extensions are implemented in a 
comprehensive way and linked to key infrastructure requirements. 

An application has been submitted for the Great Haddon urban extension and has been 
recommended for approval by the Peterborough Planning and Environmental Committee subject to 

5

89



the signing of a Section 106 legal agreement. Within the master plan for Great Haddon, the 
application site has been identified as public open space. As the model railway application is not 
seeking a temporary consent, and would be securely fenced for security purposes, the land would 
not be available for use as public open space. Therefore whilst the proposal would go towards 
providing a new leisure use, it would potentially prejudice this strategically allocated site coming 
forward. As such the development is contrary to Policy CS5 (Urban Extensions) and SA1 (Urban 
Extensions). 

2) Neighbour Amenity
Policy PP3 seeks to ensure that any development would not harm neighbour amenity. 

- Traffic
The development as proposed would be available to society members seven days a week, and 
would be open to members of the public on Sundays between 13:00-18:00 between Easter and 
September. 

Adjacent to the vehicular access from London Road are a number of residential properties. No. 9 
Folly Close sought consent to replace an existing dwelling with 4 properties in 2005 (App Ref: 
05/01295/OUT) and HDC refused planning permission. This application was subsequently 
dismissed at appeal by the Planning Inspectorate as ‘... the development of the appeal site ... 
would result in a substantial increase in traffic movements along it ... this would cause material 
harm to the living conditions and the quiet enjoyment of their homes for the occupiers of those two 
properties [No's 8 Folly Close and 33 London Road]'. 

The Inspectorate concluded that an increase in vehicle movements, over and above the 
movements generated by a single dwelling (No .9 Folly Close), would be unacceptably harmful to 
the amenity of adjoining properties. With this in mind it is considered the development would result 
in a material increase of traffic into the site which would generate movements from members, 
members of the public on Sundays, as well as potential visits from children's parties and school 
trips, which would be unreasonably harmful to the living conditions of adjoining residents. 

- Noise
The scheme would introduce a club house available to members for meetings, which would 
typically happen bi-monthly in the evenings. It is understood that the club house would not be 
available for public hire. Accordingly it would be possible, and reasonable, to condition that the club 
house is not available for public hire, as well as limiting the use of amplified music. Notwithstanding 
this there remains information outstanding with respect to noise generated by persons using and/or 
visiting the site as well as noise generated by the locomotives themselves, and whether this would 
be within acceptable noise limits. In the absence of a noise assessment the development could 
have a harmful impact on the living conditions of adjoining residents. 

-Privacy
There are residential gardens situated immediately adjacent to the application site, which are 
bounded by 1.8m high close board fencing. The majority of visiting traffic would be by car therefore 
given the height of the existing boundary treatment there would not be a loss of privacy to these 
properties. However, if the site were to be visited by coaches or minibuses, which have a higher 
ground clearance, these properties gardens would be open to view. Given the scale of 
development proposed, and that the site is only open to members of the public on Sundays, it 
would be unlikely that many, if any, journey’s to the site would be by coach. Any school trips which 
would likely generate a coach trip would be during weekdays when gardens are less likely to be in 
use. Therefore on balance the development is not considered to result in a harmful loss of privacy 
to neighbouring properties. 

The proposed development would result in an increase in vehicle movements to and from the site, 
which would have an unreasonably harmful impact on the living conditions of adjoining residents. 
This unacceptably harmful impact could be exacerbated through noise generated by the 
locomotives as well as persons using the site. As such the development fails to accord with Policy 

6

90



CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and PP3 of the Peterborough Policies DPD 
(2012). 

3) Contamination
Policy PP20 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012) seeks to protect future users from known or 
potential environmental impacts arising from pollution. The submitted application form identifies the 
land to be brownfield and it is understood that the site has been occupied as a former training area 
for the army as well as London Brick Company. Whilst a Phase 1 investigation has not been 
submitted this information could be secured by planning condition, should planning permission be 
granted. 

4) Biodiversity
Policy PP16 seeks to protect and retain ecological and biodiversity features. 

An Arboricultural Survey (Hall, August 2014), Updated Arboricultural Notes (Hall, April 2015) and 
Woodland Management Plan (Hall, November 2014) have been submitted in support of the 
application and have identified a hedgerow (H1), 4 tree groups (G1-G4) and 38 trees graded A2-
C2. 

It is understood that track construction would typically require a 100mm deep concrete base and 
two metres way leave either side of the track. The way leave areas would need to be maintained 
on a regular basis to avoid injury to users, but also to prevent woodland growth creating a corridor 
effect that could potentially leave parts of the track in darkness. 

Whilst sections of track construction have been provided and a no-dig method of construction has 
been stated it is not clear whether the track layout would harm the health of trees identified of good 
health, and the group value that they collectively provide, as the final layout does not appear to 
have been agreed with the Applicant’s Arboriculturalist. Further, a topographical survey has not 
been provided and no details of whether any new access track(s) or parking areas would harm 
existing trees. As such there has been insufficient information provided to demonstrate that the 
proposed development would not harm biodiversity features of the site.

A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report (Greenwillows, Sept 2014) has been undertaken and 
identified that a number of protected species are likely to use the site. There has been an identified 
Great Crested Newt breeding pond at the southern corner of the site and the site is likely to 
support foraging bats, nesting birds, badgers, hedgehogs and reptiles. 

The Council's Wildlife Officer has reviewed the report and whilst certain information and 
safeguarding could be secured by planning condition, such as ensuring trees to be removed are 
first checked for bat roosts, there is information outstanding which includes providing details of 
identified bat foraging routes. Until this information is provided it is not be possible to establish 
which trees could be affected by the proposal. 

As such there has been insufficient information provided to demonstrate that the development 
would not harm protected species or biodiversity features of the site, and is contrary to Policy PP16 
of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012). 

The Local Planning Authority has worked with the Applicant to overcome issues of trees and 
wildlife. This application is due to be refused for two other reasons. As it is not considered that 
these two issues could be overcome the Applicant has requested the application be determined in 
its current format. Accordingly there is information outstanding with respect to trees and 
biodiversity which could have otherwise been overcome in time. 

5) Highway and Pedestrian Safety
The access to the site is served from London Road situated within Huntington District Council. 
Further to receiving comments from Cambridgeshire County Council, the presiding highway 
authority, no objections have been raised. Notwithstanding the amenity issues identified above the 

7

91



proposed development is not considered to result in a highway safety hazard. A pedestrian 
footway could be secured by condition if planning permission were granted. 

6) Heritage 
Policy CS17 and PP17 seek to preserve or enhance the significance of heritage assets. 

The application site is not a designated heritage asset, however it is part of one of over 800 former 
Second World War prisoner of war camps and has also been used as an operational training 
camp. 

The site is a smaller part of the former camp and contains no surviving above ground structures 
and has largely naturally regenerated. There are surviving parts of tracks and roadways. The 
development of the land would have an impact on the historic asset in so far as there would be 
new structures and features for the new use, however the Council's Conservation Officer has 
advised the harm to the heritage asset would be 'less than substantial'. Much of the heritage 
significance of the site is recorded in documentary records. The larger part of the former camp, 
outside the proposed site, would remain unaltered. The Conservation Officer has advised if the 
proposal be recommended for approval it would be justified to include a condition requiring the 
provision of an interpretation board or similar site based information to explain the heritage interest 
of the site.  

Whilst all structures have been removed footprints may remain. The Council’s Archaeology Officer 
has advised that monitoring and evaluation should take place, therefore if planning permission is 
granted a suitably worded condition shall be attached.

7) Design and Layout
Policies CS16 and PP2 seek to ensure any development would not have an adverse impact on the 
character of the area, and would mitigate crime through secure design. 

Given the amount of screening surrounding the site and the distances from London Road the 
proposed use and associated infrastructure, including kiosk and club house, is not considered to 
harm the visual amenity of the area. It is noted that there are concerns relating to crime and 
gaining access to properties on Folly Close and London Road. If permission were granted 
appropriate boundary treatment could be provided to discourage unauthorised access. 

The submitted drawings illustrate a station canopy and platform area. No details of these features 
have been provided therefore it is not possible to assess these features. However, given the 
amount of screening around the site it is considered reasonable to secure these details by 
condition if permission were granted. 

8) Other Matters
- Litter - providing that the site was well managed there is no information to indicate that the 
surrounding area would be subject to increased litter.

- Letters of representation have raised concern that the proposal would erode the buffer between 
Peterborough and Yaxley. The area of land is allocated as public open space / woodland under the 
Great Haddon urban extension masterplan. In basic land use planning terms the land would 
remain as is, a buffer; for example it is not coming forward as residential development, which 
would be materially different. 

- Letters have also raised concern that the use of the land would change to D2. This is not the 
case. If permission were granted it would allow the site to be used for model railway only. The use 
of the land could be restricted by planning condition.

- Private Roads – It is understood that houses accessed from the western side of London Road 
and Folly Close are private roads maintained by residents. Were permission granted it would be 
reasonable to condition improved signage to emphasise this, however were members of the public 

8

92



to use the roads this is a civil matter between parties. 

- Relocation – In light of the Officer recommendation on this application the Local Planning 
Authority and PCC Strategic Property have engaged with the Society to find an alternate location 
within the Authority area. 

6 Conclusions

The proposal is unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material considerations, 
including weighing against relevant policies of the development plan and for the specific reasons 
given below.

The development proposed would go towards providing a community facility which in time could be 
of a wider appeal and contribution to the City. The application site however is identified as public 
open space within the Great Haddon Urban Extension masterplan; the applicants are not seeking a 
temporary consent therefore if the development were approved it would prevent the land from 
being available to use as public open space and could prejudice this major allocated site from 
coming forward. 

The proposed development would be accessed via an existing concrete road situated between two 
residential properties (8 Folly Close and 33 London Road). The proposal would result in an 
increase in vehicle movements to and from the site, which given the roads proximity to adjoining 
residential properties would have an unreasonably harmful impact on the living conditions of 
adjoining residents. Issues of noise and disturbance could be exacerbated through noise 
generated by locomotives and persons using the site, and is likely to impact to an unsatisfactory 
degree on a wider number of nearby residential properties. 

The proposed development would be situated within an area of dense woodland, which has also 
been identified as being host to a number of protected species. Insufficient information has been 
provided to demonstrate a satisfactory woodland management strategy can be secured and the 
proposed development, rail track, access and parking areas would not harm protected species or 
biodiversity features of the site.

For these reasons the development is contrary to Policies CS5 and CS16 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011), Policies PP2, PP3 and PP16 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012) 
and Policy SA1 of the Peterborough Site Allocations DPD (2012). 

7 Recommendation

The case officer recommends that Planning Permission is REFUSED for the following reasons:
 
R1 The scheme is contrary to Policies CS5 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and 

SA1 of the Peterborough Site Allocations DPD (2012), which seek to ensure that Urban 
Extensions are implemented in a comprehensive way and linked to key infrastructure 
requirements. The application site is situated within the Great Haddon Urban Extension, a 
development for up to 5,350 dwellings, retail, education and associated infrastructure, 
which has a resolution to grant subject to the signing of a Section 106 legal agreement. The 
site is identified as public open space within the masterplan. The model railway application 
is not seeking a temporary consent and would be securely fenced for security purposes 
therefore the land would not be available for use as public open space. Therefore whilst the 
proposal would go towards providing a new leisure use, it could potentially prejudice this 
strategically allocated site coming forward. As such the development is contrary to Policies 
CS5 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and SA1 of the Peterborough Site 
Allocations DPD (2012).

R2 The scheme is contrary to Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and 
PP3 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012), which seek to ensure that any development 

9

93



would not harm neighbour amenity. The proposed development would result in an increase 
in vehicle movements to and from the site, which would have an unreasonably harmful 
impact on the living conditions of adjoining residents (8 Folly Close and 33 London Road). 
This unacceptably harmful impact could be exacerbated through noise generated by the 
locomotives as well as persons using the site that would impact on a wider number of 
residents. As such the development fails to accord with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011) and PP3 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012). 

R3 The scheme is contrary to Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012), which 
seeks to protect and retain ecological and biodiversity features. The site is host to a large 
amount of primary and secondary woodland and a number of protected species have been 
identified as either occupying the site or using the site for foraging. Insufficient information 
has been provided to demonstrate that the proposed development, track layout, access and 
parking areas would not harm these identified protected species or biodiversity features of 
the site. As such the proposal fails to accord with Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Policies 
DPD (2012).

Copy to Councillors North N, Scott OBE S and Seaton D

10

94



5.5 - APPENDIX A

95



5.5 - APPENDIX A

96



5.5 - APPENDIX A

97



5.5 - APPENDIX A

98


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meeting Held on 9 June 2015
	5.1 15/00415/FUL - Peterborough City Lawn Tennis Club, Park Crescent, Peterborough, PE1 4DX
	5.1 1500415FUL - Peterborough City Lawn Tennis Club
	5.1 - Appendix 1 - 1500415FUL - Peterborough City Lawn Tennis Club

	5.2 15/00521/FUL - Peakirk Cum Glinton Voluntary Aided Primary School, School Lane, Glinton, Peterborough
	5.2 1500521FUL - Peakirk Cum Glinton Voluntary Aided Primary School

	5.3 15/00621/FUL - Land to the Rear of 37 and 39 Lincoln Road, Glinton, Peterborough
	5.3 1500621FUL - Land to Rear of 37 and 39 Lincoln Road
	5.3 - Appendix A - 1500621FUL - Land to Rear of 37 and 39 Lincoln Road

	5.4 15/00667/FUL - 17 Castor Road, Marholm, Peterborough, PE6 7JA
	5.4 1500667FUL - 17 Castor Road
	5.4 Appendix A - 1500667FUL - 17 Castor Road

	5.5 14/02222/FUL - The Hostel Site, London Road, Yaxley, PE7 3NQ
	5.5 1402222FUL - The Hostel Site
	5.5 - Appendix A - 1402222FUL - The Hostel Site




